# Building linkages for export success

# Trade Promotion Organizations and National Standards Bodies working together







## International Organization for Standardization

ISO Central Secretariat 1, chemin de la Voie-Creuse Case postale 56 CH -1211 Genève 20 Switzerland www.iso.org



#### International Trade Centre (ITC)

Palais des Nations CH -1211 Geneva 10 Switzerland www.intracen.org

© ISO/ITC, 2010 All rights reserved

ISBN 978-92-67-10536-9

## Acknowledgments

The consultation on "Quality Management : Linking TPOs and NSBs for Export Success" was jointly organized by ISO (the International Organization for Standardization) and the International Trade Centre (ITC), in partnership with the Department of Standards Malaysia (DSM) and the Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation (MAT-RADE), respectively the national standards body (NSB) and trade promotion organization (TPO) of Malaysia.

All participating moderators and speakers provided suggestions and advice. Special thanks go to Dato' Noharuddin Nordin (MATRADE), Mrs. Fadilah Baharin (DSM), Mr. Riyaz Ahmed Memon (Pakistan), Mr. Deo Muni Shakya (Nepal), Mr. Didit Yuan Permamadi (Indonesia), Ms. Tupou Raturaga (Fiji), Mrs. Dayani Dahanayake Yapa (Sri Lanka), Mr. Senen Perlada (Philippines), Mr. Dan Yansom (Papua New Guinea), Mr. Pema Khandu (Bhutan), Mr. Chandranath Som (India) and Mr. Ridzwan Kasim (Malaysia).

ISO and ITC thank DSM and MATRADE and their staff for hosting the event. ISO and ITC acknowledge the financial support of the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida), who partly funded the event and the publication.

ISO and ITC are also grateful to the participants for preparing the country papers submitted prior to the Malaysia consultation. The conclusion paper was researched and written by Martin Kellermann, South Africa, in cooperation with Alan Reynolds, United Kingdom; Rajinder Raj Sud, Malaysia; Beer Budoo and Roswitha Franz, of ISO; and Ludovica Ghizzoni, Shyam K. Gujadhur, Sophie Krantz and Bertrand Jocteur-Monrozier, of ITC. This handbook is an edited version of the text of the conclusion paper.

The consultation was conceived and managed by the ITC Enterprise Competitiveness, Export Strategy and Trade Support Institutions Teams, and ISO. The inputs provided by Anton Said, of ITC, on the design of the consultation are well acknowledged. The consultation organization support provided by Hema Menon, of ITC, is also much appreciated.

This handbook was edited and designed by the Communication Services (Marketing, Information and Communication Department) of ISO Central Secretariat.

#### DISCLAIMER

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this handbook do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the ITC, nor on that of ISO, concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

This document has been developed by the authors mentioned above, with editing and publishing by ISO and ITC. Discussions and recommendations do not necessarily reflect the views of ISO and ITC, and are not endorsed by these organizations. While every effort has been made to verify the information contained in this document, neither ITC nor ISO can accept any responsibility for any errors that it may contain. This document is strictly an information document and in no way represents the consensus views contained in ISO standards and other ISO deliverables.

## Table of contents

Ack	knowledgments	1
Tab	ble of contents	3
ISO	) – International Organization for Standardization	5
Inte	ernational Trade Centre (ITC)	6
List	t of abbreviations and acronyms	7
For	eword	9
1.	Introduction	11
1.1	The consultations	12
1.2	Clarifying some concepts	12
2.	Structure of this handbook	15
3.	The role of quality in exporter competitiveness	17
3.1	Technical regulations and SPS measures	18
3.2	Voluntary and private standards	18
4.	The role of national standards bodies	23
4.1	NSB services	25
4.2	WTO TBT and SPS enquiry points	30
4.3	Users of NSB services	31
4.4	Funding of NSBs	32
5.	The role of trade promotion organizations	33
5.1	TPO services	34
5.2	Sectors supported	36
5.3	Users of TPO services	37
5.4	Funding and resources	38

6.	Possible areas of collaboration 39
6.1	Information linkages 39
6.2	Capacity building and advisory services 43
6.3	Obtaining and demonstrating compliance 44
6.4	Other collaborative possibilities 45
7.	Mapping quality-sensitive value chains 47
7.1	Value chain analysis during the consultations 47
7.2	Agriculture 48
7.3	Garment manufacturing 50
7.4	Tourism 52
8.	Making it all possible 55
8.1	Policy framework 55
8.2	Challenges related to possible collaboration 55
9.	Conclusion 61
10.	References and definitions 63
10.1	References 63
10.2	Definitions 63
Арре	endix I: Programme of the consultation workshop 67
Appe	endix II: List of participants of the consultation workshop 73
Appe	endix III: ITC's capacity building modules to strengthen TSIs 81
Appe	endix IV: Selected bibliography 83

# ISO – International Organization for Standardization

ISO has a membership of 163\* national standards bodies from countries large and small, industrialized, developing and in transition, in all regions of the world. ISO's portfolio of more than 18 300\* standards provides business, government and society with practical tools for all three dimensions of sustainable development : economic, environmental and societal.

ISO standards make a positive contribution to the world we live in. They facilitate trade, spread knowledge, disseminate innovative advances in technology, and share good management and conformity assessment practices.

ISO standards provide solutions and achieve benefits for almost all sectors of activity, including agriculture, construction, mechanical engineering, manufacturing, distribution, transport, medical devices, information and communication technologies, the environment, energy, quality management, conformity assessment and services.

ISO only develops standards for which there is a clear market requirement. The work is carried out by experts in the subject drawn directly from the industrial, technical and business sectors that have identified the need for the standard, and which subsequently put the standard to use. These experts may be joined by others with relevant knowledge, such as representatives of government agencies, testing laboratories, consumer associations and academia, and by international governmental and non-governmental organizations.

An ISO International Standard represents a global consensus of the knowledge in a particular subject or process, whether it is the state of the art in that subject, or what is good practice.

\* September 2010

### International Trade Centre (ITC)

## ITC: EXPORT IMPACT FOR GOOD

The International Trade Centre (ITC) is the joint agency of the World Trade Organization and the United Nations.

#### **ITC MISSION**

ITC enables small business export success in developing and transition countries by providing, with partners, sustainable and inclusive trade development solutions to the private sector, trade support institutions and policymakers.

#### **ITC OBJECTIVES**

- Strengthen the international competitiveness of enterprises through ITC training and support
- Increase the capacity of trade support institutions to support businesses
- Strengthen the integration of the business sector into the global economy through enhanced support to policymakers.

## List of abbreviations and acronyms

APEC	Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation
BIPM	International Bureau of Weights and Measures
CAC	Codex Alimentarius Commission
СВІ	Centre for the Promotion of Imports from Developing Countries (Netherlands)
CEN	European Committee for Standardization
CENELEC	European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization
СМС	Calibration and measurement capability
DSM	Department of Standards Malaysia
EAC	East African Community
EN	European Norm (Standard)
ETSI	European Telecommunications Standards Institute
EU	European Union
GAP	Good agricultural practice
НАССР	Hazard analysis and critical control point
IAF	International Accreditation Forum
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
IEC	International Electrotechnical Commission
ILAC	International Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation
IPPC	International Plant Protection Convention
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
ITC	International Trade Centre
ITU	International Telecommunication Union
MATRADE	Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation
MERCOSUR	Southern Common Market of Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Uruguay

MLA	Multilateral recognition arrangement	
MoU	Memorandum of understanding	
MRA	Multilateral recognition agreement	
NEP	National enquiry point	
NQI	National quality infrastructure	
NSB	National standards body	
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development	
OIE	World Organization for Animal Health	
OIML	International Organization for Legal Metrology	
QI	Quality infrastructure	
SADC	Southern African Development Community	
Sida	Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency	
SIPPO	Swiss Import Promotion Programme	
SMEs	Small and medium-sized enterprises	
SPS	Sanitary and phytosanitary (measures)	
TBT	Technical barriers to trade	
ТРО	Trade promotion organization	
TSI	Trade support institution	
UNIDO	United Nations Industrial Development Organization	
WTO	World Trade Organization	

### Foreword

National standards bodies (NSBs) and trade promotion organizations (TPOs) have specific and important roles to play — NSBs as developers of national standards and representatives of their country in international and regional standardization organizations, TPOs as the source of much needed foreign market information, and facilitators of export trade. In most developing countries, the NSB is the national enquiry point as required by the World Trade Organization (WTO) Agreement on Technical barriers to trade (TBT), and may also be a provider of conformity assessment services. In many countries, little or no formal cooperation existed in the past between NSBs and TPOs.

This handbook is designed for those in NSBs, TPOs and government agencies supporting international trade to show the advantages of closer collaboration to assist exporters in your country.

The growth of international trade and the increasing importance of high level standards and technical regulation in developed markets presents greater opportunities for NSBs and TPOs to collaborate and create more opportunities for exporters to demonstrate compli-

Patricia Francis

Executive Director International Trade Centre

ance with market requirements and enhance national competitiveness.

This collaboration may assist any enterprise looking to export but especially small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) who find it difficult gaining the information necessary to evaluate and comply with market access requirements in another country.

To explore how such collaboration could be achieved, the ISO and ITC jointly organized a regional consultation on "Quality Management: Linking TPOs and NSBs for Export Success" in Malaysia in December 2009, partly funded by Sida.

This handbook is based on the outcome of that meeting, and reflects the position of those participating. The examples given are drawn from their shared experiences, and can be used by developing economies in all regions to review local situations. This handbook therefore offers pointers for any country to utilise in developing its own approach to help open avenues of collaborative effort between the national TPO and NSB to leverage their services for the benefit of local exporters.



Secretary-General International Organization for Standardization

### 1. Introduction

To compete and succeed in today's trading environment, an overseas supplier must not only find a buyer, but must also ensure its products and services meet rigorous quality requirements (i.e. performance, perceived quality, conformity, reliability and durability) demanded by the customer, end user, and others in the global supply chain. While these requirements are much the same for all suppliers and create a level playing field, evidence <sup>1)</sup> suggests that some suppliers find high standards and proof of compliance difficult to meet.

Exporters require:

- Information regarding voluntary, market related, mandatory or statutory requirements
- Capacity building and advisory services to meet and exceed these requirements economically and consistently
- Evidence of compliance with requirements acceptable to buyers and regulators.

All organizations must comply with many such requirements to access markets and sell their products. SMEs with fewer resources and limited information may find it especially difficult. The challenge is greater still for enterprises outside the market, particularly in obtaining the right information. This might include compliance with logistical, managerial and financial requirements, and proof of formal product and/or service quality. And in order to remain competitive in aggressive global markets, manufacturers must continue to innovate. Understanding and financing these challenges is crucial, as is estimating the potential profitability of the market and buyer they may have identified.

Governments develop strategies to facilitate export trade through initiatives and trade support institutions. Two such institutions that support manufacturers, producers and suppliers in accessing foreign markets are the TPOs and NSBs of the exporting country. The former can provide primarily intelligence and bring exporters and the market together, and the latter can contribute relevant information on quality and regulatory requirements, demonstrating compliance, and provide conformity assessment services. One would expect these organizations to have developed strong collaborative systems, since their services would seem to complement each other well. Yet in many countries TPOs and NSBs have to develop much, if any, cooperation.

To explore how such collaboration could be achieved, the ISO and ITC jointly organized a regional consultation on "Quality Management: Linking TPOs and NSBs for Export Success" in Malaysia in December 2009, partly funded by Sida. Senior NSB and TPO officials from 16 countries in East, South East and South

<sup>1)</sup> See World Trade Report 2005: Exploring the links between trade, standards and the WTO, World Trade Organization, Geneva 2005, see www.wto.org/english/ res\_e/booksp\_e/anrep\_e/world\_trade\_report05\_e.pdf

Asia shared experiences, considered common challenges to strengthening inter-linkages, and discussed best practice cases. The list of participating countries and representatives is provided in Appendix II.

This handbook is based on the outcome of that meeting, and reflects the position of those participating. The examples given are drawn from their shared experiences, and can be used by developing economies in all regions to review local situations. Every country is unique, and no one model of cooperation can fit all situations. However, this handbook offers pointers for any country to utilise in developing its own approach, and make its own choices. In addition, the following guidelines can help open avenues of collaborative effort between the national TPO and NSB to leverage their services for the benefit of local exporters.

#### 1.1 The consultations

The consultations were supported by papers developed by the NSB and TPO of each participating country, as well as those by ISO, ITC and international experts. All papers are available on the ITC website at http://www. intracen.org/eqm/events.

Consultations consisted of information sessions chaired by moderators from ISO, ITC or from invited international experts. Experts and participants explained the roles of NSBs and TPOs, and the scope of quality requirements in export markets. Value chain analysis was used to identify current and potential collaborative actions, and how to enable exporters meet and exceed market requirements with the support of NSBs and TPOs. Elements of possible partnerships and how these could be made to work were identified, and next steps by all the countries represented were discussed. The full programme is listed in Appendix I.

#### 1.2 Clarifying some concepts

Several common misconceptions regarding standardization are re-defined here for clarity, since the concepts appear throughout this handbook:

- A standard is a formal document, established by consensus and published by a recognized body, that provides, for repeated use, rules, guidelines, or characteristics for activities or their results, aimed at the achievement of the optimum degree of order in a given context. Standards can therefore pertain to products and services as well as the processes or systems that are utilised to provide them. Generally speaking, standards are considered "voluntary", i.e. suppliers can choose whether they wish to comply with standards, even though they may be demanded by contract or considered desirable by the market place
- Technical regulations although covering much the same territory as standards, are generally not developed by consensus, are published by regulatory authorities, and compliance is demanded by law. Technical regulations are usually implemented when

market failures negatively impact on the health and safety of the population or the fauna and flora, and sometimes to protect consumers from large-scale deception. Frequently, technical regulations reference standards, and in some countries these are called compulsory or mandatory standards. Technical regulations frequently include packaging and labelling requirements

SPS measures (sanitary and phytosanitary) are legal measures implemented by a government to protect human, animal or plant life in its territory from risks such as the entry, establishment or spread of pests, diseases and disease-carrying or disease-causing organisms. Hence, they endeavour to manage the risks arising from additives, contaminants, toxins or disease-causing organisms in foods, beverages or feedstuffs as well as risks carried by live animals or plants, or from the actual entry, establishment or spread of pests. These legal measures could include end product criteria, process and production methods, testing, inspection, certification and approval procedures, quarantine treatments, transport requirements for animals and plants,

and packaging and labelling requirements related to food safety

 Conformity assessment is a collective term covering all the services needed to provide evidence that a product or service complies with a standard or a technical regulation. Conformity assessment can be provided by independent third parties, or by the supplier, depending on the purchaser or regulatory authority requirements. Conformity assessment includes inspection, testing, product or system certification, or any relevant combination of these. Metrology and accreditation are part of conformity assessment, and together with standards, are considered the three fundamentals without which any conformity assessment regime lacks credibility.

Reference to definitions can be found in Section 10, *References and definitions*. These are mainly based on two International Standards : ISO/IEC Guide 2:2004, *Standardization and related activities – General vocabulary*, and ISO/IEC 17000:2004, *Conformity assessment – Vocabulary and general principles*, and also the WTO Agreements on Technical Barriers to Trade and on Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures.

## 2. Structure of this handbook

This handbook is an edited version of the conclusion paper which was largely based on the forum discussions in Malaysia, with additional information where relevant, and is structured as follows:

#### The role of quality for exporter competitiveness

Section 3 describes the extent to which quality requirements affect exports, and the implications for developing country exporters and support institutions. It also elaborates the complexity and scope of quality requirements.

#### The role of national standards bodies

Section 4 provides a general overview of the role of NSBs and the services they provide in standards development, provision of information on standards and technical requirements, conformity assessment or advisory services and technical regulations, and identifies potential NSB clientele.

#### The role of trade promotion organizations

Section 5 gives a general overview of the role and services of TPOs in providing information and market intelligence, capacity building and advisory services, and in connecting suppliers, manufacturers, and exporters with markets, discusses how TPOs can facilitate conformity assessment services, and lists potential TPO clientele.

#### Possible areas of collaboration

Section 6 provides guidance regarding possible linkages between the WTO TBT and SPS enquiry points, the NSB standards information services, and the TPO information services. These linkages include the sharing of information on current and future standards and technical regulations, private standards, and conformity assessment services. Tracking of notifications sent by WTO members is also covered, plus other possibilities, such as sharing of customer databases.

The section also deals with capacity building and advisory services regarding product and service compliance with export market requirements, and advises on obtaining and demonstrating such compliance. Other collaboration possibilities such as workshops and consultancies, cross membership in governance structures, technical committees or advisory committees are also reviewed.

#### Mapping quality-sensitive value chains

In Section 7 three generic value chains – agriculture and agro-processed foods, manufactured products (e.g. garments manufacturing) and tourism services – are given as specific examples of areas where NSBs and TPOs could provide quality management services that add value.

#### Making it all possible

Section 8 explores ways of initiating and maintaining a process of collaboration.

#### **Conclusion and final sections**

Sections 9 and 10 summarize the main points of the publication, and provide references and definitions, and appendices (programme, list of participants, example of ITC's capacity building modules to strengthen TSIs, and selected bibliography).

# 3. The role of quality in exporter competitiveness

To become and remain competitive in local and foreign markets one must meet challenges  $in^{2}$ :

- Product development. The emphasis is on faster, more systematic quality processes to develop new products that meet rapidly changing global market requirements and customer preferences
- Supply and purchasing. Organizations require productive partnerships with suppliers, including outsourcing partnerships in other countries, to take advantage of the globalization of the supply chain
- Training and human resources development. Employees must be given quality tools, processes and support to enable them to continuously improve the business and its products
- Economics of quality. The costs of achieving customer satisfaction while absorbing the economic pressures of globalization must be systematically measured and managed
- Hands-on management. Managers must take a strong, strategic and hands-on approach to continuous management of innovation based on quality.

The concepts of "quality" and "innovation" feature prominently in such challenges. Quality

has many dimensions beyond compliance with stated requirements or established standards. It can encompass performance of primary characteristics, including inferred quality or reputation, the probability of malfunction, and the amount of use before the product deteriorates. Therefore, organizations have a key need for:

- Comprehensive and up-to-date information on mandatory or "voluntary" technical requirements, either clearly specified in standards, or demanded by the market
- Capacity building and advisory services to assist in product design and development, international purchasing and supply chain management, quality management including costs, and innovation
- Prompt and cost-effective conformity assessment services to provide evidence that products conform to requirements, whether mandatory or "voluntary".

Innovation is increasingly fundamental to marketing success as global competition toughens. But even the most innovative products must conform with standards, especially those relating to health and safety. Similar arguments apply to products that must integrate with existing systems, particularly in electronics and communication. Conformity with standards, whether mandatory or voluntary, is therefore fundamental to gaining and maintaining

<sup>2)</sup> Source: "Spring into Action", by A.V. Feigenbaum in *Quality Progress*, November 2009 (www.qualityprogress. com)

market access, and is an essential part of total product quality, whether innovative or not. Mandatory requirements are generally contained in technical regulations and SPS measures, whereas voluntary requirements are found in standards.

Standards requirements, technical regulations and SPS measures differ greatly between products and markets, and can be quite daunting for any exporter or potential exporter. Whereas conformity with standards is a voluntary decision by the supplier, technical regulations and SPS measures have to be complied with by law.

#### 3.1 Technical regulations and SPS measures

Governments develop and implement technical regulations and SPS measures for products that could have a damaging effect on the environment, or on the health and safety of the population. Technical regulations comprise requirements that are often comparable to standards for the same products, and administrative provisions that include conformity assessment requirements. SPS measures are similar and must also be considered, especially in the food sector.

All products falling within the scope of these two regulatory areas must comply with requirements as a mandatory or legal obligation. However, since some fall outside the scope, it is very important to establish whether a technical regulation or an SPS measure exists in the target export market for a product or service. Technical regulations and SPS measures are normally valid for decades rather than years. This is an advantage for the supplier, as compliance must be consistently and continuously applied. But they can also become a barrier to innovation if they do not keep up with technical developments. Nevertheless, all suppliers must provide evidence of compliance. Hence, it can be argued that competitiveness is not determined by compliance with technical regulations or SPS measures, since they lead to a level playing field for all suppliers. However, if products or services do not comply with such requirements, then there is no way the supplier can enter the market. For SMEs in developing economies, they can be a formidable barrier to entry into lucrative developed economy markets. This is especially so of environmental and health regulations requiring complex and expensive conformity assessment services that may not be available locally.

## 3.2 Voluntary and private standards

At the next level are the many regional, national or international standards where conformity may be contractually demanded by the purchaser and therefore becomes a business decision for the exporter.

Formal international standards are an established and proven approach to technological and global challenges. WTO disciplines in using standards as the basis for regulatory measures demand that "international standards" be developed by designated organizations in the case of the SPS Agreement <sup>3)</sup> or according to principles for international standards development in the case of the TBT Agreement. Formal international standards, such as those from ISO and the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC), are prepared following such principles.

A distinction is made between international standards prepared using the principles set out in the WTO Agreements<sup>4)</sup> and disciplines established through the Code of Good Practice for the Preparation, Adoption and Application of Standards<sup>5</sup>, and other "private" standards that do not adhere to these principles and disciplines. Standards that are developed using processes open to worldwide participation, and that use these principles, are considered to be "international standards". ISO International Standards are developed within proven structures, operational approaches and participation models detailed in ISO/IEC's existing directives and development procedures<sup>6)</sup>. While other standards may be developed that meet the needs of specific sectors or segments of the population, and may be perfectly valid and relevant for their purpose, they do not adhere

to such disciplines, nor do they share other attributes of formal international standards. Several international standards – notably the management system standards ISO 9001<sup>7)</sup> and ISO 14001 (see Figure 1) – have become extremely important in the manufacturing and service sectors.

The use of international standards in support of public policy and regulation has increased in recent years, as countries have joined the WTO and have begun to apply TBT and SPS Agreement disciplines in using standards as a way of reducing barriers to trade.

Examples of regional standards are those of the European Union (EN), East African Community (EAC) and Southern African Development Community (SADC). Other bilateral and multi-lateral trade arrangements, as well as existing and new regional free trade agreements in different parts of the world, have also been major drivers to adoption of international standards. Organizations or trade areas, such as the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), and Southern Common Market of Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Uruguay (MERCOSUR), encourage the use of international standards as a way of fostering trade within their membership, and with the rest of the world.

Standards at national level are too numerous to list, since nearly 150 of the 163 ISO member bodies publish national standards. Fortunately,

<sup>3)</sup> The SPS Agreement specifically names the Codex Alimentarius Commission (CAC); the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE); and the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC) as organizations that produce "international standards" regarding food safety, animal health, and plant health respectively.

<sup>4)</sup> See Annex 4 on "Decision of the Committee on Principles for the Development of International Standards, Guides and Recommendations with relation to Articles 2, 5 and Annex 3 of the Agreement" contained in the Second Triennial Review of the TBT Agreement at http:// docsonline.wto.org/DDFDocuments/t/G/TBT/9.doc

<sup>5)</sup> See http://www.wto.org/english/docs\_e/ legal\_e/17-tbt\_e.htm#annexIII

<sup>6)</sup> See http://www.iso.org/iso/standards\_development/ processes\_and\_procedures.htm

<sup>7)</sup> The full titles and references of the various standards mentioned in the text are provided in Section 10.



#### Figure 1: ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 certificates issued worldwide

many are based on international standards, but full equivalence is not always achieved. In many countries, technical regulations are based on national standards or reference them as is. This means that information regarding national standards in target markets remains a key need of any exporter.

International standards are reviewed approximately every five years to ensure they remain useful and relevant. National standards have a similar life cycle.

There is a vast and growing number of nongovernmental standards and significant differences in the bodies/organizations that develop them for areas such as governance, development approach and stakeholder engagement. ISO makes a distinction between "formal" international standardizing organizations as described above, and other "private" standards setters<sup>8)</sup>. At least three important categories of private standards have evolved in the context of ISO's work, leading to efforts to harmonize or coordinate them with the ISO standards development system :

- Private standards in the information and communication technology (ICT) sectors (consortia and fora)
- Private standards from the retail and agri-food industry

<sup>8)</sup> A more complete treatise on the subject can be found in the ISO publication: *International standards* and "private standards" (ISBN 978-92-67-10518-5) available as a free download from the ISO website at : http://www.iso.org/iso/private\_standards.pdf.

 Private standards related to social and environmental aspects.

Compliance with private standards is not a legal requirement, but is frequently a precondition for trading with some of the major purchasing groups or retailers in the developed economies. However, certification to these standards can be costly. The market reality is that they are in place, and current or potential exporters to such markets have to pursue compliance in order to be competitive. Other private standards are those imposed by some of the large multinational retail organizations. These are developed as a consequence of intense competition among retailers and are used to gain a competitive advantage. These retail organization standards have a very short lifespan, typically one to two years, until competitive advantage has diminished and a new one has to be sought. Currently, these standards apply mainly to the food sector, but they may extend to other areas in the future.

### 4. The role of national standards bodies

NSBs provide a wide range of standardization and conformity assessment services, generally depending on how the national quality infrastructure (NQI)<sup>9)</sup> is arranged. Therefore, before discussing the services an NSB may be able to provide, it is useful to briefly describe the elements of a quality infrastructure (QI) and their relationship to each other. The main elements and deliverables of a QI are shown in **Figure** 2<sup>10)</sup>.

For each of these elements national, regional and international structures have been established for many years. In the case of standardization, ISO, the IEC, the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) and Codex Alimentarius are well-known international organizations, and there are many more. The regional counterparts of the first three in the European Union, for example, are the European Committee for Standardization (CEN), the European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization (CENELEC) and the European Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI). In other regions, a similar arrangement exists. The main international bodies for metrology are the International Bureau of Weights and Measures (BIPM), which deals mainly with fundamental metrology, and the International

Organization for Legal Metrology (OIML), dealing mainly with legal metrology. As is the case for standards, many regional structures have been established to harmonize metrology issues at regional level. For accreditation, the two main international organizations are the International Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation (ILAC) and the International Accreditation Forum (IAF), which deals mainly with system and product certification. Regional accreditation organizations also exist.

At the national level, a variety of organizational set-ups are possible. For example, separate national organizations may be established for standardization, metrology and accreditation, or all services are combined into one organization. The organizations making up the NQI may be public or private entities, or both. The mix is not uniform and there is no single, global best practice for the type of organizational set-up, even though some trends are developing slowly. In some countries, the NQI is guided by a national quality policy, in others it has developed more or less organically over many years. It is recognized by most experts, however, that an effective and efficient NQI is vitally important to the modern economy. In this handbook, only the NSBs are dealt with in any detail, even though the others are no less important.

Some standards bodies publish standards and provide related information services only – this type of specialization is mostly found in developed economies. Others, and this is the case in

<sup>9)</sup> See definition of the national quality infrastructure (NQI) in Section 10.

<sup>10)</sup> A more extensive discussion on the elements of quality infrastructures can be found for example on the website of the Network on Metrology, Accreditation and Standardization for Developing Countries at : http://www.dcmas.net.

Metrology	Metrology is the technology or science of measurement and the service is required to ensure internationally recognized traceability of measurements and calibration of measuring instruments. Metrology can be subdivided into: • Scientific metrology • Legal metrology • Industrial metrology
Standardization	Development and publication of a formal document by a recognized body, generally by con- sensus, containing the requirements that a product, process or service should comply with. Standards can be the basis of technical regulation, contractual obligations or market expecta- tions. Standards are developed on a number of levels, namely International standards Regional standards National standards Private standards
Conformity assessment	Conformity assessment is the collective term for services necessary to provide evidence that a supplier, product or service meets requirements such as provided for in a standard or technical regulation. The following are generally considered to be conformity assessment services: <ul> <li>Inspection</li> <li>Testing</li> <li>System certification</li> <li>Product certification</li> </ul>
Accreditation	Accreditation, including peer assessment, is the activity providing independent attestation as to the competency of individuals or organizations providing conformity assessment services, thereby facilitating international recognition of claims of conformity.

#### Figure 2: Elements or services of a quality infrastructure

most developing economies, also provide many additional standardization related services such as consultancy, conformity assessment and training. An indication of the wide variety of services offered by NSBs can be seen in the breakdown of ISO member body services listed in *ISO Members 2009*<sup>11)</sup> (see Figure 3). Each of the above services are described in more detail below. In-depth discussions on standardization in industrial development, trade facilitation and on improving access to global markets can be found in the ISO/ UNIDO publication "*Fast forward – National Standards Bodies in Developing Countries*"<sup>12)</sup>.

<sup>11)</sup> ISO Members 2009, Twelfth edition,

ISBN 978-92-67-01174-5, ISO, 2009, see www.iso. org/iso/publications\_and\_e-products/governance. htm#PUB100029

<sup>12)</sup> Fast forward – National Standards Bodies in Developing Countries, ISBN 978-92-67-10477-5, ISO, 2008, see www. iso.org/iso/fast\_forward.pdf



Figure 3: Services provided by ISO member bodies

Additional information on all aspects of conformity assessment and its role in international trade is provided in the joint ISO/UNIDO handbook: *Building trust – The Conformity Assessment Toolbox*<sup>13</sup>.

#### 4.1 NSB services

#### 4.1.1 Standards development

As confirmed in the *ISO Members 2009* data, the majority of NSBs, however small, develop and publish national standards, i.e. 151 of 162. This is achieved through national technical committees that operate in accordance with principles laid down in the ISO/IEC Directives, and Annex 3 of the WTO TBT Agreement. Authorities, organized trade and industry, academia and civil society are normally represented. With few exceptions, most developing economies are "standards takers" rather than "standards makers", i.e. national standards are based on, adopted with some modifications, or are fully equivalent to international and/or regional standards. Even so, a progressive NSB would ensure that its country is adequately represented in relevant technical committees at the international and regional level, in order to protect national interests.

The NSB serves two major groups in developing standards. First, authorities need national

<sup>13)</sup> Building trust – The Conformity Assessment Toolbox, ISBN 978-92-67-10511-6, ISO, 2009, see www.iso.org/ iso/casco\_building-trust.pdf

standards as a basis for establishing technical regulations and SPS measures. Second, industry requires standards as the basis for design and manufacturing. Standards development programmes should therefore reflect the needs of these two groups. In view of the dynamic growth of international trade, national standards should remain as close to international standards as possible, i.e. national versions should be kept to an absolute minimum, in order to help industry connect with outside markets more easily.

#### 4.1.2 Information on standards, conformity assessment procedures and technical regulations

Nearly all ISO member bodies provide information on national standards, as well as the major international standards such as ISO, IEC and Codex Alimentarius. The larger NSBs would also have access to the national standards of the major trading partners of the country. In view of the growing significance of private standards, NSBs in developing countries should consider providing information on these standards and associated conformity assessment procedures. In well organized NSBs this information service is staffed by professionals with a working knowledge of the subject matter in question, so that organizations seeking information on standards in foreign markets can be assured that the information received is accurate and up to date.

In addition, NSBs will sell individual national standards or sets of standards (i.e. building

and electrical safety standards) or act as agents for the sale of foreign and international standards <sup>14)</sup> as hard copies or in electronic format, i.e. CD-ROM. Standards can be downloaded through the Internet from the more progressive NSBs once the appropriate payments have been made electronically. Some NSBs also provide an updating service to selected customers, i.e. they are informed as soon as specified standards, whether national or foreign, have been amended, revised or re-affirmed.

Information on conformity assessment procedures and technical regulations in target markets is of similar importance to exporters. NSBs are well placed to access such information through their knowledge and international links. Such an information service would be a valuable addition to NSB portfolios in developing countries. WTO TBT and SPS enquiry points are also in a good position to provide information on technical regulations, as described later.

#### 4.1.3 Training

Many NSBs provide training services in standardization, testing and certification, and most would include implementation of Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP), or management systems conforming to ISO 9001, ISO 14001, ISO 22000, or similar.

<sup>14)</sup> International standards of non-intergovernmental bodies such as ISO and IEC are generally subject to copyright and must be purchased. Others, from intergovernmental bodies such as OIML and the Codex Alimentarius Commission may be downloaded free of charge.

This general training is normally augmented by training and accreditation of quality auditors. Candidates for quality, environment, food safety, and other auditor training would typically be drawn from the staff of organizations implementing those management systems. Where the NSB is also responsible for metrology in the country, training in calibration systems at company level, or training of metrologists will also be major activities. NSBs can also become involved in the training and accreditation of other technical professionals such as those in non-destructive testing disciplines. All such schemes are guided by international standards such as ISO 19011 or ISO/IEC 17024.

Training is not considered a conflict of interest with the provision of conformity assessment services provided that the training is given in open forum and is generic in nature, i.e. not single company specific. Otherwise it is considered as consultancy and the caveats outlined in section 4.1.4 apply. Even if the NSB sets up the training/consultancy as a separate division from certification, the conflict of interest remains as far as the accreditation organization is concerned.

#### 4.1.4 Consultancy services

As centres of excellence for technology, NSBs in developing countries are in an ideal position to provide consultative services regarding compliance with standards and technical regulations in target markets. This should be the case since NSBs are heavily involved in setting standards, participating in regional and international standardization activities, and in inspecting and testing products. Indeed, some 50% of NSBs do offer such services, as confirmed by the list in Figure 3. The major caveat is that consultancy services can only be provided if the NSB does not also offer related testing and certification services. Otherwise, they would not be able to gain accreditation, as this combination is considered a conflict of interest.

In some organizations, the conflict of interest has been circumvented by establishing separate certification and consultancy operations, with totally separate managements under the auspices of a holding company. However, this issue is subject to change and it would be important for the NSB to obtain the latest information and rulings on conflicts of interest made by IAF and ILAC.

#### 4.1.5 Accreditation

Accreditation is increasingly used as the basis for determining the technical competency of laboratories (testing and calibration) and certification bodies (product and system). Many NSBs provide accreditation services as part of their remit to establish proper standards in their country, as exemplified by Canada, Malaysia, Thailand and others. This is only meaningful if the NSB does not provide any conformity assessment services, as this would be seen as a serious conflict of interest.

The primary accreditation service customer would be any laboratory, whether private or public, and especially those that provide services with a public dimension (e.g. in technical regulation or SPS measure implementation) or those that provide conformity assessment services for export markets. The same applies to inspection bodies, and system and product certification organizations.

International recognition of accreditation services is achieved by becoming a signatory to the multinational recognition agreements of ILAC (laboratories), designated "MRAs" and the IAF (certification systems), designated "MLAs". NSBs whose accreditation services have not been peer reviewed and acknowledged through the MRA with ILAC or the MLAs of IAF, will have a recognition problem – conformity assessment service providers not accredited by them may find that their services are not accepted in foreign markets.

#### 4.1.6 Metrology

Metrology consists of three distinct domains – fundamental or scientific metrology, legal metrology and industrial metrology. NSBs in many economies are custodians of the national measurement standards, are involved in legal metrology (mostly in the form of trade metrology, a subset of legal metrology), and provide calibration services on request to industry and the authorities.

National measurement standards must demonstrate accuracy comparable to other national standards, with proven competency of the metrology laboratories, in order that the country's best calibration and measurement capabilities (CMCs) can be listed in the world-wide directory of the BIPM<sup>15</sup>). This is the first step to ensure that the measurements will be accepted elsewhere in international markets, but without it, the rest of the national metrology system is meaningless. Metrology services must be government funded, and therefore not paid by the customer.

Trade metrology is akin to technical regulation, since it is intended to ensure that trade based on measurements, i.e. mass, volume, length, etc., is an equitable process whereby measurements are made by instruments that meet minimum accuracy criteria. These instruments must meet defined standards before they can be used commercially, and must be calibrated and verified at stipulated intervals as defined by law to ensure their continuous compliance. The fundamental purpose of trade metrology is to ensure that trade at the national level is properly conducted, hence government is seen as the client. However, with the increase in pre-packed goods for the export trade, exporters use trade metrology services to ensure that their goods are accepted in foreign markets without having to be weighed or measured again.

Measuring equipment becomes less accurate over time, so calibration at regular intervals is necessary to ensure continued accuracy. NSBs in developing economies provide calibration services mainly to industry and laboratories, but also to authorities. In smaller countries the NSB is frequently the sole supplier of such services. In larger economies, private calibration laboratories increasingly augment the role of the NSB in this regard. However, it is important for the NSB to establish a proper national calibration system, i.e. to ensure

<sup>15)</sup> The list of CMCs can be accessed through the BIPM website at : http://www.bipm.org

traceability of measurement standards used by the calibration laboratories to international standards, if it acts as the national metrology institute, and to ensure that measurements are accepted in export markets.

## 4.1.7 Inspection, testing and certification

Inspection, testing and certification are the primary means of demonstrating to purchasers or authorities that products and services comply with standards. NSBs frequently provide inspection services to authorities covering imports or implementation of mandatory standards. These generally fall within the domain of technical regulations, i.e. they are mandatory requirements imposed by governments. Some countries allow pre-shipment inspection to take place in lieu of border-entry inspections. This is preferable since it prevents non-compliant product from being shipped. Industry may use NSB inspection services as a pre-shipment inspection before sending products to foreign markets if the NSB's inspection services are accepted abroad. Inspection services may also provide evidence that products comply with contractual obligations between the purchaser and supplier. This applies to government purchases locally or overseas. They should be accredited to demonstrate their competence, and certified to ISO/IEC 17020:1998, General criteria for the operation of various types of bodies performing inspection.

Testing services are provided to regulatory authorities for the implementation of technical regulations and SPS measures. Similarly, product manufacturers and suppliers need technically competent, independent third party testing services to satisfy customer demands, or determine whether products meet stated requirements or standards. In developing economies, the NSB together with other government laboratories are often the only testing service providers of note. For such testing services to be accepted, it is important that all individual laboratories should be certified to ISO/IEC 17025:2005, *General requirements for the competence of testing and calibration laboratories*. Simply being the national standards body (or ministry laboratory) is no longer an adequate criterion.

In the case of certification services provided by the NSB, the most important from an exporter's perspective are the quality and environmental management system standards ISO 9001, ISO 14001, and increasingly ISO 22000:2005, Food safety management systems — Requirements for any organization in the food chain. Compliance with HACCP is also important from a food exporter perspective. Certification to ISO/IEC 17021:2006, Conformity assessment — Requirements for bodies providing audit and certification of management systems is a prerequisite for the recognition of these system-related certification services.

Product certification services are important, particular for medical devices, and for electrical products intended for the North American market. In such cases the NSB can act as a subcontractor for product certification bodies operating in the target markets abroad. Such arrangements require the developing country NSB to demonstrate competence and negotiate specific arrangements.

#### 4.1.8 Services excluded

While NSBs generally provide a broad range of services, there are some that are the responsibility of other organizations in most developing economies. The most obvious is the SPS domain which is separated from the NSB in most countries, and inspections and regulatory activities are the responsibility of other agencies. Hence, the control, inspection and approval procedures for plants and animals are generally not provided by the NSB. However, even in this case, NSBs may provide testing and certification of SPS measures where they are required by the authorities.

#### 4.2 WTO TBT and SPS enquiry points

Some 60 % of NSBs (according to WTO Secretariat data) are the sole designated WTO TBT Enquiry Point, about 15 % share this responsibility with their line ministry, and a small percentage of NSBs provide the WTO SPS Enquiry Point for their countries. In the remainder of the WTO member states, the WTO TBT Agreement Enquiry Points are located in the ministry responsible for trade. The WTO SPS Enquiry Points are usually shared between the ministries responsible for health and agriculture.

WTO TBT Enquiry Points are established as an obligation under the WTO TBT Agreement to respond to questions from other WTO members regarding national standards, technical regulations, conformity assessment organizations and regimes, international and regional affiliations of local standardization, and conformity assessment organizations. Several WTO members have also expanded the role of the enquiry points beyond the obligations of the WTO TBT Agreement by providing information services to the domestic industry and trade sector.

Enquiry points must provide the following information:

- Current technical regulations (including legal metrology and compulsory standards)
- Current national standards
- Proposed new technical regulations
- Proposed changes to technical regulations
- Any requirements on assessing conformity with technical regulations or standards
- Any membership of the country's national organizations in regional or international organizations dealing with standards or conformity assessment
- Any bilateral or multilateral recognition agreements regarding all of the above
- The name and contact details of each organization responsible for any of the above information.

SPS Enquiry Points are similar in that they must provide information regarding any adopted or proposed sanitary or phytosanitary regulations, any control or inspection procedure, requirements for production processes and quarantine treatment. They must also answer questions regarding risk assessment procedures used by the authorities, including factors taken into consideration when determining sanitary or phytosanitary protection requirements. Membership of national bodies in international and regional sanitary and phytosanitary organizations and systems, and of bilateral and multilateral agreements and arrangements, should be provided if requested. SPS Enquiry Points are mainly attached to the ministries responsible for agriculture and health (food safety), plant health and animal health, and are not usually part of the NSB remit.

Well organized enquiry points augment these services by providing alerts and advance warnings on technical regulations and SPS measures to be implemented by trading partners. The WTO Secretariat lists and makes available all such notifications from WTO members on a regular basis. These enquiry points review notifications, determine their relevance for the country and distribute them to industry and authorities for comment and information. They may even collate all the comments for further action by the trade professionals in the responsible ministries, i.e. transmitting a country position to the WTO member wishing to implement the measures. Exporters in developing countries benefit greatly if their enquiry points provide such a service.

#### 4.3 Users of NSB services

The broad spread of potential and actual services provided by NSBs suggests that the range of clients can be equally varied. The first group would include authorities in the domestic market as well as potential export markets in need of information on national standards, either as a market requirement or as the basis of technical regulations and SPS measures. If the NSB acts also as the national enquiry point, then the authorities will expect the full spectrum of information as required by the WTO TBT and/or SPS Agreement(s). Where NSBs provide conformity assessment services, especially as preferred service providers with regard to technical regulations, then the authorities will make full use of such services - either in the case of pre-market product approvals, or to determine compliance of products in the market place. The NSB would normally charge for conformity assessment services, while information services would usually be provided free of charge, i.e. a "good-for-country" service financed through government funding mechanisms.

The second group of NSB clients would be industry, i.e. manufacturers and suppliers, ranging from multinational companies operating locally and in export markets, to the smallest SMEs. The spread of needs would be very similar to the authorities, but the focus would be different. They would be more interested in conformity assessment as a continuous service than information as a one-off requirement. Testing, certification and calibration will constitute the bulk of these services as long as the technical competence of the NSB can be demonstrated. Suppliers would generally demand compliance information through their industrial partners, i.e. the manufacturers, but might occasionally request conformity assessment services from the NSB directly. However, suppliers would be major customers for NSB information services, particularly in export markets.



Figure 4: Government grant as source of revenue of NSBs

Thirdly, private individuals and the public sometimes make use of NSB information services; although the cost of conformity assessment services is normally too high for the general public.

#### 4.4 Funding of NSBs

NSB funding sources vary, depending on whether they are government departments, statutory bodies or private companies, and differ from country to country. In some countries, NSBs are totally funded by the state, and in others a large proportion of their budgets must be earned through conformity assessment services. If the NSB is a private organization, it must obtain payment from those benefiting from its services, including the state. Some NSBs even derive the bulk of their budgets from the administration of mandatory or compulsory standards and certification. Figure 4 shows the extent of government grants as a source of revenue among ISO members in 2009.

NSB funding mechanisms are not particularly relevant to this handbook, with the exception of selected collaborative efforts between NSBs and TPOs. More important is the funding of collaborative efforts in "good-for-country" activities by the state. These are addressed in more detail in Section 8.2. Detailed information on NSB funding can be found in the ISO publication *Financing NSBs – Financial Sustainability for National Standards Bodies*<sup>16</sup>.

<sup>16)</sup> Financing NSBs – Financial Sustainability for National Standards Bodies, ISO (International Organization for Standardization ), Geneva, 2010, ISBN 978-92-67-10534-5, see http://www.iso.org/iso/financing\_nsbs.pdf

# 5. The role of trade promotion organizations

Trade support institutions (TSI) exist in every country to help businesses develop, promote and sell their goods and services abroad – broad categories are shown in **Figure 5**. There is no standard format for a TSI and often more than one exists in each country. As an illustration of the functions and services performed by TSIs, Appendix III shows the TSI capacity building modules proposed by the ITC.

A TPO traditionally has a more limited role in "promoting" international trade. There may be more than one TPO per country, they are not homogeneous and can take many forms. In some countries they are part of government ministries (e.g. the Philippines), in others they are statutory agencies created by public law (e.g. Fiji), in others, private sector bodies (e.g. chambers of commerce in Austria). Sometimes they are a combination of public and private enterprise (e.g. Swedish Trade Council).

One TPO may represent smaller nations while larger nations may be represented by TPOs at regional and local/city levels. However, one is generally recognised as the national TPO in international meetings because of its public law and funding status. Nevertheless, export customers will use the most convenient TPO that can best meet their needs. A few TPOs

General	<ul> <li>TPOs – Trade promotion organizations</li> <li>Ministries (with an interest in export development)</li> <li>Chambers of commerce and industry</li> <li>Economic development agency (with export focus)</li> <li>Foreign trade representatives/attachés/offices</li> <li>Regional economic groupings (with export focus)</li> </ul>	
Sector specific	<ul> <li>Exporters' associations</li> <li>Trade associations</li> <li>Chambers (agriculture and other sector specific)</li> <li>Sector based (industry and services ) bodies</li> </ul>	
Function specific	<ul> <li>Export credit and financing bodies</li> <li>Standard and quality agencies</li> <li>Export packaging institutes</li> <li>International purchasing and supply chain management bodies</li> <li>Training institutions</li> <li>Trade law and arbitration bodies</li> </ul>	
		Source: ITC

#### Figure 5: Broad categories of TSI organizations

have responsibility for promoting tourism, but more combine their exporting role with that of promoting inward investment. As the customer base for tourism and inward investment promotion can be different from that of traditional exports, not all combinations have worked and there have been subsequent separations (e.g. Portugal).

#### 5.1 TPO services

TPO services can be those demanded by the exporting community, perhaps in response to a customer needs analysis, or in response to an analysis of the requests received. TPOs may also use information from around the world to identify opportunities in markets and sectors as yet unnoticed by the country's exporters. This would be seen as proactive work by the TPO, with the balance of responsive and proactive services being at the TPO's discretion. A menu of possible TPO services is shown in Figure 6. However, many TPOs offer only a fraction of these because of limited resources or legal powers, customer demand, or competition from other TSIs. This handbook focuses on those functions with the greatest potential for collaboration with NSBs.

#### 5.1.1 Information

The main objective of a TPO is to put sellers in touch with buyers abroad and facilitate the development of that contact. TPOs can provide information about buyers and sellers, for example size, turnover, contact details, market reputation, customer attitudes, competitiveness, methods of doing business, market size, etc., but rarely give advice on credit worthiness. This is the function of commercial bureaux. The TPO may include information on standards and technical regulations, but very few of those present at the consultation were doing so. MATRADE in Malaysia was an exception in sourcing this information on demand from its offices abroad. This however is labour intensive and TPOs are increasingly sub-contracting or buying-in the results of such work from commercial information providers. TPOs assemble and distribute information via publications, websites, selective e-mail and in person at enquiry points. They may also delegate this task to provincial offices and agencies closer to the exporter.

## 5.1.2 Promotion in target markets

Once a TPO has identified details of potential buyers and markets, and the exporter has decided to develop the opportunity, it can facilitate contact between buyer and seller. This could involve providing and/or subsidising participation by the exporter, either alone or with other enterprises, at an international trade fair. It can also organise buyer/seller missions to and from the target market. All these activities are aimed at developing the contact between buyer and seller, and making the exporter more aware of the export market conditions.

#### 5.1.3 Support abroad

TPOs with networks of offices or representatives overseas can provide additional help to the country's exporters – this is particularly


Figure 6: Broad categories of TSI services

important for SMEs without agents or distributors in a new market able to deal with local requirements in the local language. SMEs often need to use the TPO's overseas offices, the country's embassy or other representatives to make these introductions and identify translation and interpreting services. Larger TPOs with extensive overseas networks can assist exporters with such local market knowledge. However, TPO employees are expensive to relocate in foreign markets, and are usually supplemented by local staff who can provide local language capabilities and knowledge at lower cost. Import promotion offices have been established in some developed economies to support SMEs from developing economies gain access to their markets. Typical examples include the Netherlands Centre for the Promotion of Imports from Developing Countries (CBI), or the Swiss Import Promotion Programme (SIPPO)<sup>17)</sup>.

# 5.1.4 Role of TPOs in trade development

The TPO focus changed with the arrival of the Internet, enabling exporters to search for market information directly rather than through a TPO, and to contact potential buyers via e-mail, business networking sites or electronic marketplaces. In response, some TPOs began to intervene earlier in the export process ("going-up-stream") to help exporters become export-ready in developing and adapting their products.

This has challenged TPOs to equip themselves with additional skills. If TPOs do not provide assistance in export-readiness then it may become the responsibility of separate small firms agencies (the United Kingdom's (UK) Business Link network is one example). Some TPOs (e.g. those of Sweden and Norway) in developed countries provide more detailed support ("going downstream") and offer full cost consultancy services in competition with the private sector. The same applies to some developing economies (e.g. MATRADE provides financial support to help SMEs improve packaging and labelling). Such extensions of TPO services could include help with standards and technical regulations.

## 5.1.5 Services excluded

TPOs in developed markets usually direct customers to sources of advice rather than themselves becoming involved in specializations such as packaging, transport, financing and insurance, which require knowledge and skills not usually possessed by government officials. Thus they have not traditionally provided information about technical regulations or standards required by exporters to meet market needs. In view of the globalisation of trade and greater movement of goods between countries, it is more important than ever that exporters have better information on market entry requirements. The function of this conclusion paper is to show how TPOs can add such assistance to their activities, and work with NSBs to bring this about.

## 5.2 Sectors supported

TPOs are accustomed to dealing with exporters shipping goods to foreign countries. This service has been extended to helping exporters set up overseas subsidiaries and generate profit from manufacturing abroad (outward investment). In parallel with globalisation and the transfer of manufacturing facilities to lower cost economies is a dependence on selling services (such as professional advice, construction activities, transport). TPOs have had to develop mechanisms to assist service suppliers, whether professionals – e.g. archi-

<sup>17)</sup> Link to import promotion organizations: http:// www.tponetwork.net/importpromotionagencies.php



Figure 7: Role of TPO varies according to the level of export readiness

tects, lawyers, accountants, or consultants – e.g. business or internationally tradable services. The tools developed for selling goods (e.g. trade fairs) are not necessarily relevant to selling services. Here, trade missions that concentrate on personal introductions have generally been more effective. However the provision of market information is common to selling goods and selling services.

Less developed countries are also interested in selling primary products abroad, typically raw materials, or agricultural products which may be further processed as food. While the tools used to assist the export of products can also be relevant, more extensive market information may be needed to assist a food exporter. Sometimes the promotion of agribusiness is handled by a ministry of agriculture or food, rather than the TPO. Thus in the context of collaboration with the NSB, the partner may be an organization other than the principal TPO.

## 5.3 Users of TPO services

Although the range of TPO services provided may seem quite wide, as shown in Figure 7, in reality it is relatively narrow. Surveys show that, even in developed markets like the UK, some 40% of exporters are unaware of the existence of a TPO. Large companies tend not to need TPO services because they generally sell established products to established markets, and know their buyers and markets well. If they wish to enter a new market, they will probably appoint an agent or distributor, or set up a local office and not require TPO services. An exception might be a service organization, such as a large distribution or construction company, requiring diplomatic support to reach decision makers in the local ministry. Service organizations such as banks, and professionals such as architects and surveyors will rarely call on the TPO because it is unlikely to have the necessary knowledge and expertise.

TPO customers tend to be SMEs. In most sectors, micro businesses are normally considered to be too small to export, particularly if substantial amounts of working capital or effort is required to penetrate a foreign market. SMEs wishing to enter new markets or sell new products into existing markets may seek TPO help to find buyers and undertake market research. Such a service is likely to be low cost or free of charge.

## 5.4 Funding and resources

### 5.4.1 Funding

National governments or regional and local authorities in most countries see economic benefits from selling goods and services abroad, so some or all TPO resources come from public funding. It is unusual for a TPO to be funded from sources other than government. Typically, where a service is available to all without customization to meet individual exporter needs, that service is provided free to the exporter at the point of delivery. Where some element of the service is customized (e.g. the TPO researches a specific market for an exporter) or is available selectively to a group of companies (e.g. a group wishing to exhibit at a foreign trade fair), those companies are expected to pay some or all

of the extra cost of delivering this exclusive service. This may take the form of payment by the exporter to the TPO, or as a grant from the TPO to reimburse the exporter for part of its costs. Both methods have their advantages and disadvantages, e.g. a grant towards costs may be simple to administer, while recovering a service fee from an exporter can involve staff-intensive debt collection. The tendency to share support in this way is more common in developed economies, but may become more prevalent in developing countries with increasing demands on national treasuries.

# 5.4.2 Prioritization of resources

TPOs have finite staff, skills and financial resources. This applies equally to large TPOs in developed countries and small TPOs in developing countries. They cannot do everything and must make choices. Many already prioritise services by sector, countries of interest or type of organization. Unless exporters are prepared to finance additional services in technical requirements, standards, SPS measures and conformity assessment, TPOs must compare the importance of those services with the demand-driven services already supplied. In addition, TPOs must prioritize the initiatives and opportunities they have identified, and decide which resources should be diverted to the new services. It would be preferable for a TPO to undertake a market survey among exporters before deciding how resources might be redeployed. If the TPO is governed or advised by a committee of business representatives, this body could also be asked for its views.

## 6. Possible areas of collaboration

The consultations have indicated that few NSBs and TPOs have collaborated extensively or formally to date, so it is appropriate to list many of the collaborative efforts possible. Individual countries and their institutions should select those that make sense in the context of national customs and practices. The possibilities of cooperation discussed during the consultations are summarized in Figure 8, with details in the following sections.

## 6.1 Information linkages

Before exporting, organizations must obtain export market information relevant to their products or services in export markets so they can make the right decisions about compliance to requirements, or even if it is worth exporting at all. This might include information on potential buyers, market size, competition, price levels, market preferences, the transport and warehousing logistics involved, and so on. In addition, products may have to comply with technical regulations or SPS measures, undergo pre-shipment inspection, and carry product certification marks by law. Alternatively, exporters may have to demonstrate product compliance with voluntary standards (e.g. product certification marks) in order to gain market acceptance. Buyers may also demand compliance with voluntary or private standards as part of their contractual agreements.

The smaller the enterprise, the fewer people and less time it will have to research this informa-

tion, so they may turn to agencies to do this for them. Having a choice of many agencies can make information available in more places more often, but to know who does what, and best, can be confusing. This has driven many governments to establish and maintain "one stop" or "first stop" enquiry "shops". Much of the required information can be provided by TPOs and NSBs, as described in sections 4 and 5. Hence, it would make sense to establish collaborative efforts to ensure the seamless delivery of information shared between NSBs and TPOs.

## 6.1.1 Information sharing between TPOs and NSBs

In summary, the information maintained by the NSB deals with standards, technical regulations, conformity assessment, and sometimes SPS measures. This information would be available in its own country, as well as regionally and internationally. The NSB should provide current as well as future information on developments through linkages to the national enquiry points for TBT and SPS, its peers, regional and international standardization organizations, and the WTO. NSBs have vast amounts of data on standards information and conformity assessment services through their technical committees and customer databases. They also communicate increasingly through websites, but would also selectively target committee membership, and identified industries and/or industry associations.

Information linkages	<ul> <li>Sharing of information regarding         <ul> <li>Markets of interest to exporters</li> <li>Products and services which exporters wish to sell</li> <li>Standards, technical regulations, SPS measures, conformity assessment in target markets</li> <li>WTO notifications regarding technical regulations and SPS measures</li> </ul> </li> <li>Signposting and linking websites</li> <li>NSB information on standardization work programme         <ul> <li>New standards to be developed</li> <li>New technical committees to be established</li> <li>Circulating draft standards for public comment</li> </ul> </li> <li>TPO information dissemination         <ul> <li>Websites, publications, targeted distribution lists</li> <li>Information centres</li> <li>On food and feeds rapid alert systems – problems experienced with exported products in target markets</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Capacity building and advisory services	<ul> <li>Advisory services to meet market requirements         <ul> <li>Redesign of product, service or packaging</li> <li>Implementation of management systems (i.e. quality, food safety, environment)</li> <li>Facilitating consultancy services</li> </ul> </li> <li>Capacity building services at national level         <ul> <li>Enhancing the NQI</li> <li>Counterpart for donor projects</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Obtaining and demonstrating compliance	<ul> <li>TPO to act as facilitator between exporter and service providers such as NSBs and others</li> <li>NSB provides calibration and conformity assessment services         <ul> <li>Inspection</li> <li>Testing</li> <li>Certification (product and systems)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Other collaboration possibilities	<ul> <li>Enhancement of formal communication channels/cooperation through Memorandum of understanding (MoU) or similar</li> <li>TPO standing members of technical committees for developing standards (national and international)</li> <li>Mutual representation on governance and advisory structures</li> <li>Combined seminars, workshops and training opportunities in relation to common interests</li> <li>Dealing with dumping of low quality products on the home markets</li> <li>Collaborating to utilize government funds for SME capacity building</li> <li>Establishing a national working group to discuss and exchange information of mutual interest and benefit</li> </ul>

## Figure 8: Possible areas of cooperation between NSBs and TPOs

The TPO, on the other hand, identifies, collates, and makes available foreign – rather than national – market information. It is in touch with many organizations selling to foreign and not just national markets, and is better informed than the NSB about target export markets. TPO expertise lies in information about countries and market conditions, and its outreach should be via its offices abroad, its embassies and other diplomatic representatives. The TPO will also have mechanisms for making information through websites, publications, information centres and targeted distribution systems accessible to exporters.

The roles, capabilities and customer bases of NSBs and TPOs, though potentially overlapping, are more likely to complement each other. The same applies to information on standards, technical regulations and markets. It would therefore be helpful if NSBs and TPOs could consider:

- Sharing information about markets of interest to exporters (so that NSBs could inform TPOs about data they hold, and TPOs could inform NSBs about markets to target for information gathering)
- Sharing information about products and services which exporters wish to sell abroad (so that NSBs can alert TPOs when international discussions about new or amended standards take place, and TPOs can inform NSBs when it would be in the country's interest to participate in such discussions). This would enable NSBs to lobby in the interests of the private sector during the development of international or regional standards

- Sharing information about technical regulation notifications (if the NSB is the WTO TBT Agreement National Enquiry Point – see section 4.2) with a wider range of companies so they have the opportunity to comment via the National Enquiry Point to the national authority representatives at the WTO
- Referring to and sharing each other's customer database (where national law or customer agreements permit). This would enable NSB and TPO services to be sold or promoted to wider audiences, making each potentially more effective
- Making use of both information dissemination systems to broaden access to the information each has available
- Linking their respective websites, so that visitors are aware of the existence of the other organization, and connected easily through the link. This also helps traceability through Internet search engines.

# 6.1.2 Dissemination of NSB information

NSBs regularly disseminate information on the development of standards, such as :

- Determining the need for a national standard before commencing development
- Establishing new technical committees, subcommittees or working groups to develop national standards, or provide input to regional or international standardization activities
- Circulating draft standards for public comment before they are published

 Announcing the approval and publication of national standards, including those that are due to be declared compulsory by the authorities.

If the NSB is the WTO TBT Enquiry Point (and occasionally the WTO SPS Enquiry Point), and has developed value-added services regarding international technical regulation and SPS measures (see section 4.2), it may wish to distribute its summary of notifications to the WTO Secretariat regarding those regulations or measures to be implemented by WTO members, especially if they are trading partners of its country. These notifications must reach every stakeholder impacted by such implementation by a trading partner. These stakeholders should be given the opportunity to comment if necessary, the comments have to be collated, and then the authorities notified to take the matter up with the trading partner authorities, or with the WTO TBT or SPS Committee if necessary. This advance information could also be of great benefit to exporters wishing to protect or expand their markets.

In both situations, the NSB would have its own dissemination channels and stakeholder groups. These channels are both proactive and reactive. Proactive channels would normally include existing lists of industrial and authority stakeholders targeted individually by official letters, e-mails, faxes, etc. Associations and industry sectors would be among the stakeholder groups provided with such information. This is increasingly posted on NSB websites accessible to much wider audiences, although this is reactive, since they need to find the information for themselves. It would be extremely beneficial to the country if the NSB could utilise the TPO information dissemination mechanisms to augment its own, and reach a far broader audience. The TPO could add considerable value to the process by identifying specific stakeholders and by communicating information to them as quickly as possible, beyond making it available on websites and in information centres.

# 6.1.3 Dissemination of TPO information

TPOs can make information available to exporters via the following channels:

- Websites (either open access, or access limited to registered users)
- Distribution systems which attempt to match information to users by means of a pre-established profile (often known as Selective Dissemination of Information or SDI). This is normally by e-mail in countries where there is high take-up of ICT among SMEs, but by text (SMS) or postal delivery where the infrastructure or culture does not support e-delivery
- Publications
- Information centres (with personal, telephone or e-mail contact with TPO staff, or combinations of methods)
- Announcements in newspapers, trade magazines or on radio where other more targeted methods cannot be widely used.

The TPO is frequently the appointed centre where information on export problems and

failures are reported. In developed economies, these information centres are sometimes linked to rapid alert systems, especially in the food and feeds sector. The TPO should ensure that this information is also reported to the NSB, particularly if the issues arise out of inadequate testing and certification, in which case the NSB should be able to follow up and rectify the situation quickly. Such an action could potentially protect an entire industry in severe cases of failure, i.e. before a country's exports are "blacklisted" by a major developed economic community such as the EU. Obviously, the TPOs should collaborate closely with government trade officials since such cases may require official intervention and policy level action.

## 6.2 Capacity building and advisory services

A major issue for any exporter is to ensure that the products or services to be exported comply with stated requirements, whether technical regulations or contractual obligations. When it becomes clear that the product or service does not meet requirements, then the manufacturer or supplier must decide what should be done to render them compliant by asking, for example: *What investment is required*? *Should the products be redesigned*? *Is better manufacturing machinery required*? *Should inspection and testing be upgraded*? *Is the quality system in need of upgrading and certification*?

Frequently, and particularly in smaller organizations, there is too little capacity available in-house, and help from external sources is required. The question is can the TPO and/ or the NSB provide such services?

## 6.2.1 Advisory services

If the NSB is accredited to provide conformity assessment services, it is highly unlikely that the same organization could help the exporter redesign the product or implement a quality management system, since this would be, in effect, a consultancy. If the NSB is not accredited for its conformity assessment services, it may provide such consultancy services, but then its testing and certification are unlikely to be accepted in a foreign market. In this case, the products in question will have to be (re)tested by an organization other than the NSB. The same would apply to management system certification.

However, the TPO is seldom organized in such a way that it could provide advisory/ consultancy services of that kind. It essentially provides intelligence on foreign markets, and then connects potential suppliers and purchasers. Where a TPO can provide such advisory or consultancy services, it would be a very useful adjunct to the NSB's conformity assessment services, as the conflict of interest would not arise. In this case the NSB and TPO should cooperate closely to ensure that the TPO advisory/consultancy service is successful in helping upgrade the product, process or service so that it meets stated requirements, and can be tested and certified.

Where a TPO does not provide the required consultancy services, and the NSB also does not provide the advisory/consultancy services due to conflict of interest, then it would be very useful if the TPO could inform customers where they could obtain such services. Likely channels would be industry/SME development organisations, sector specific TSIs, or consultancy firms with a good reputation. Finding the right adviser is obviously important. Word of mouth recommendations are often the best way of locating good consultants, since few countries have effective formal consultant approval systems.

# 6.2.2 Capacity building services

Capacity building in this context is largely focused on the development of new information, and the design, testing and certification capacity of the organizations that provide services to exporters, i.e. typically the NSBs and TPOs, to support the competitiveness of the export sector. The donor community always endeavours to establish working relationships with organizations that can act as the local partner in the country where it wishes to develop capacity. That partner can help the donor to channel support to the right organizations and needs. The NSB has been nominated for this role in many developing countries since substantial donor support has recently been channelled to develop testing, certification, metrology and accreditation capacity. However, in a few countries, the TPO has been given this responsibility because capacity building (i.e. quality management system implementation, good agricultural, transport and warehousing practices, etc.) goes beyond the NQI, and targets producers and suppliers as well.

In this case the TPO should involve the NSB from the start to determine the real capacity building needs of the country, especially from an accreditation, metrology and conformity assessment perspective, so that these can flow into the project design. If the NSB is the preferred partner of the donor organization, it should similarly involve the TPO. The TPO should have a better understanding of the product and services sectors that would benefit most from capacity building projects geared towards enhancing export performance.

## 6.3 Obtaining and demonstrating compliance

As discussed in Sections 4 and 5, it is clear that a demarcation exists between NSBs and TPOs regarding the provision of conformity assessment services. NSBs can and do provide conformity assessment services, whereas TPOs do not. But, in helping their customers access foreign markets, TPOs should have a good idea of the services offered by NSBs, and should be able to refer them to the correct NSB contact. This presupposes that NSBs maintain up-todate calibration and conformity assessment databases, i.e. inspection, testing and certification services that are communicated to the TPO. It would also be helpful if TPOs and NSBs could identify specific contact personnel for this type of information.

If the NSB is not able to offer the appropriate conformity assessment services, then the TPO may direct customers to other national and accredited private sector conformity assessment service providers or to foreign providers that could do the same. TPOs should note those global private sector conformity assessment bodies with established branches in developing countries or regions that provide recognised conformity assessment services.

TPOs can also act as facilitators in negotiating subcontracting arrangements between NSBs and foreign conformity assessment service providers. This could be particularly useful in product certification where the certification body in the target market would grant a licence to the manufacturer on the basis of testing and audits conducted by the NSB, or under subcontracting arrangements with other local conformity assessment bodies. In most cases, this will be more effective than bringing certification body auditors from abroad, and having the tests conducted overseas. The same arrangements may also be possible with CE-marking and notified bodies, even though there may be difficulties due to the legal implications for the notified body.

In some countries, TPOs are able to support SMEs with funds from the government or their membership to enable them to buy advice on adapting their products or services to meet foreign market needs, or achieve product or system certification. It would be helpful if the TPO could enlist NSB support to optimise the use of such funds, i.e. focusing on products and services where it will make a difference. The NSB is likely to seek recompense for the services rendered, and should not be expected to provide services below cost. A TPO should be prepared to see its financial support to SMEs passed on to the NSB.

## 6.4 Other collaborative possibilities

Beyond the collaborative possibilities already discussed are others that deal mostly with enhancement of formal communications between TPOs and NSBs.

## 6.4.1 Technical committees

NSBs operate technical committees that decide on national standards, and should ensure that all communications on committees and standards development are routinely sent to the TPO. The TPO should designate a secretariat or a specific person to act as the communication channel responsible for sending the information to the appropriate members and customers, and feeding reactions back to the NSB. Reporting on a new technical committee, or updating the membership of an established committee might be typical communications. The TPO might also recommend which organizations could contribute to the decision making process.

### 6.4.2 Governance and advisory structures

Many NSBs have a committee that acts as a standardization forum, advising NSB management on the services it should provide to stakeholders, and the strategic directions to take in standardization. Although not having a direct management or fiduciary role, the committee acts as a forum for stakeholders to voice opinions, concerns and needs on standardization. The NSB should invite the TPO to join such a forum and participate regularly with management delegates.

If such a forum is not already in place, it might be useful for the NSB and TPO to jointly establish a national working group to discuss and exchange information on standards, technical regulations, SPS measures, conformity assessment procedures and services concerning export requirements in target markets. It could also make sense to invite TPO representation on the NSB council or board. Should the TPO have established similar governance structures, then the NSB could be invited to have comparable representation.

## 6.4.3 Conferences, seminars and workshops

Where capacity building for entry into foreign markets involves conferences, seminars and workshops, TPO and NSB representatives should be invited to contribute to the views of industry, suppliers and the authorities regarding the understanding of standards, technical regulation and conformity assessment. Such events can be very effective in enhancing capacities, particularly if organized with participation of overseas and local experts.

### Box 1 – Typical standards awareness and promotion programmes

#### Malaysia (DSM)

DSM, the NSB of Malaysia, partners and cost-shares with a number of organizations and consumer associations to promote standards and their implementation, even though it is difficult to secure funding from government sources.

### Thailand (TISI)

TISI, the NSB of Thailand, offers a 10 month training and consultancy programme for manufacturers, with consultancy support. It also provides consumer educational programmes for communities and schools, to promote standards.

Source: Presentation of Malaysia and Thailand at the consultation

## 7. Mapping quality-sensitive value chains

The value chain approach is used by many organizations to show how fragmented activities can be coordinated to reveal interconnections and inter-dependences between international traders and economic operators in different countries. Value chains highlight the fact that most products and services are produced by a complex and sequenced set of activities. Developments in global markets over the past few decades have greatly increased the complexity of inter-company linkages and the ways in which the activities of different organizations are coordinated. From a policy perspective, value chains are increasingly utilized to address two key issues in business development and trade promotion:

- How to mobilize, and work with, the private sector to promote development, reduce poverty, and shift from supplyside to demand-side interventions
- How to support the productive activities of small producers and marginalized populations in the context of globalization.

Developing a value chain for a product or service in a specific country will focus attention on the coordination of fragmented production and distribution systems, and the options open to an enterprise in managing relationships along the chain. It is also an opportunity to identify the points at which TPOs and NSBs could lend support. Any gaps can be easily identified, and programmes to develop appropriate capacities can be established. This may be more valuable to the SME sector than to large exporters already familiar with the sequence of processes and players, who have developed their own methods of dealing with potential gaps. In this section, three generic value chains – agriculture, garment manufacturing, and tourism – are given as examples.

## 7.1 Value chain analysis during the consultations

Value chains are not used much by NSBs or TPOs to determine the possible support they could provide to exporters. It is also clear that value chains for the same product are viewed differently in different countries, and must be developed anew each time. However, the process illustrates the value of reviewing entire value chains to identify key quality constraints affecting exports. It would then be possible to select specific activities to meet the constraints, enhance exporter competitiveness, identify the quality requirement at each link in the chain, and the body to provide the service.

The following sections and Figures 9, 10 and 11 provide a value chain analysis of the three chosen sectors. The colours of individual boxes represent players in the value chain and indicate whether the NSB or TPO can potentially provide information, conformity assessment or other services. Some linkages are colour coded to indicate that the TPOs are in a good position to connect the players.

## 7.2 Agriculture

Agriculture is the mainstay of many developing economies, both for local consumption and export. Agricultural produce is subject to complex technical regulation and SPS measures in developed economies and control of the value chain through standards, testing and certification, i.e. the "field-to-fork" principle, is commonplace. Hence it provides tremendous scope for NSB and TPO involvement. The generic value chain for agriculture (see **Figure 9**) provides an insight into these possibilities.

At the start of the value chain, growers require quality fertiliser, registered pesticides, water and soil analysis, heavy metals, pesticide residue and aflatoxin testing, etc. – all of which culminate in good agricultural practice (GAP) certification. Since storage and transport are also considered high risk in preserving the integrity of raw materials and produce, these activities must often be certified in compliance with relevant standards as well.

The same strict regime is required in processing plants that must demonstrate compliance to international standards such as HACCP or ISO 22000, or to private standards with a similar scope. These requirements may be imposed by regulatory authorities, or by major purchasers such as multinational retail organisations. All such conformity assessment services could be provided by the NSB, either independently or in collaboration with multinational or other private sector certification organizations. In addition, the NSB as the national WTO Enquiry Point is responsible for obtaining information from its counterparts in target markets.

The TPO can identify the country's main product strengths, and use its overseas outlets to match up market opportunities, provide standards information for known products and markets, and, with the NSB, develop packaging standards to ensure the integrity of the produce during transport. In some countries, food and feeds are such an important export category that specialised TPOs have been established. Close cooperation between NSBs and TPOs can be valuable, bearing in mind that the promotion of agribusiness is the responsibility of a separate ministry or agency in some countries.

# 7.2.1 Analysing the agriculture sector value chain

Figure 9 gives an example of how value chains can be used to determine the possible involvement of the NSB or TPO. This example is generic in nature, and does not represent any specific agricultural product or country. Due to the many differences between products, countries of origin and target market requirements, the exercise should be conducted with actual information before any definitive model can be presented for NSB or TPO involvement in a particular country.

In the diagram, the blocks representing the main markets are shown in blue and are linked to the national components of the value chain to indicate that the TPO has a potentially major role to play in bringing these entities together, or in supplying information to facilitate the



marketing of the manufacturer's products. This also applies to manufacturers that supply the national value chain components with processing machines, packaging, etc., needed for the finished product. Blocks shown in green indicate that a technical requirement must be fulfilled, and that the NSB could provide the conformity assessment service.

One should carefully evaluate each of the value chain links with regard to technical requirements – most easily done in tabular form. For each of the links, e.g. pesticide supplier, grower, processor, etc., the technical regulations, SPS measures and market requirements to be fulfilled must be fully researched and listed with details, reasons for implementation, etc. Once services that could be provided by the local NSB and TPO are identified, those requiring foreign conformity assessment service providers become obvious.

Some links outside the national value chain, such as packaging material or machinery suppliers and international transporters, could in principle also be served by the local NSB, but it is likely that they would prefer to use the inspection, certification or laboratory services in their own country before exporting their products into the producer country.

### 7.3 Garment manufacturing

Figure 10 illustrates a garment manufacturing value chain typical of many developing economies. In an actual situation there would probably be many more sectors and sub-sectors, i.e. reality would be much more complex. The example presupposes that cotton is grown in the country, and that the subsequent value-added processes such as ginning, spinning, weaving and knitting also take place locally before the article is assembled by the garment manufacturer or tailor. They would also use foreign supplies of knitted or woven fabric. Garment manufacture is not usually subject to technical regulation, other than processes such as dyeing.

The example indicates that the possible involvement of the NSB and TPO is much wider than expected. For example, the NSB could be closely involved at the cotton growing stage in providing fertilizer standards and testing. Fertilizers are subject to obligatory standards in several developing economies, where the NSB is mandated to ensure compliance of imported or locally produced fertilizer. Although pesticides are usually controlled by regulatory agencies under the local ministry of agriculture, the NSB is frequently able to test for pesticide residues where relevant. The NSB can provide the same type of service right through the production chain, including ISO 9001 or ISO 14001 certification.

The TPO on the other hand should be able to provide information on foreign markets, and may be involved in helping producers locate raw material suppliers and international freight companies abroad, and link garment producers with importers, wholesalers or retailers in the target market. This is less so in the case of the major retail groups operating their own purchasing divisions. TPO information should also feed back to the NSB to coordinate with information regarding the required market standards. A case can be made for TPOs to become involved in the world of fashion, by



helping garment manufacturers connect with fabric and clothing designers. In this way they could help SMEs, in particular, to understand current fashion trends and serve the unpredictable garment industry better.

Training in ISO 9001- and ISO 14001- based quality and environmental management systems, and in market requirements such as traceability, eco-labelling, social accountability, is required throughout the value chain – probably because few other product sectors are subject to as many consumer requirements. As such, garment manufacturing is a potentially important area for NSB and TPO involvement and collaboration.

## 7.4 Tourism

Tourism is a multi-dimensional service industry, so while the example is a simplified representation of the real world, it serves to illustrate a few principles. In most countries where the importance of tourism is recognized, the industry falls under the auspices of a specific government body or tourism board, other than the NSB. Therefore NSBs are not yet involved in tourism to the same extent as in the two previous examples. This may change in view of the growing need for international standardization in quality and service, and greater awareness of environmental issues among tourists. International standardization is already playing a much more important role in other service industries.

Nevertheless, NSBs have a potential role to play in providing the supply side of the tourism industry with standards information, testing and certification. Thus the TPO/NSB links in Figure 11 are partially coloured to indicate potential connections. Certification of tourism organizations and tour operators normally falls outside the sphere of NSB activity, but there is no reason why NSBs should not maintain professional relationships with the relevant certification bodies serving the sector. Some members of the hotel and travel industry are already certified to ISO 9001 and ISO 14001, as environmentally friendly tourism grows.

The principal role of the TPO would be to help promote home market image building and tourism during trade fairs and similar events. This is as important as promoting any manufacturing industry, particularly as tourism is a major foreign exchange earner in many developing economies. Liaison between TPOs and tourism boards can be of significant value where home market image building is planned. The challenge however, is that the key TPO home country customers are more likely to be exporters than hotels, restaurants and tourism service providers. Similarly, the normal TPO target audience in foreign markets would be the retail consumer seeking to buy the product, rather than the business community.

The service sector is growing, and the international standardization community is increasingly involved in developing standards to provide guidance in the quality of service delivery. There is therefore scope for future NSB and TPO developments in the tourism sector of the service industry, and this is an opportunity that should not be missed.





## 8. Making it all possible

In the preceding sections, a case has been made for closer cooperation between NSBs and TPOs, and better coordination of activities, to enable them to serve their local export communities more effectively. The question is, "How can this be initiated and sustained?" See Figure 12 (next page) for a series of suggested initiatives to help in the development of country specific solutions.

The key strategy should be to maximise limited resources. See Box 2 (page 58) as an example of suggestions made by the delegate from Papua New Guinea at the consultation, to serve as additional input for debate at national level.

At the consultation participating countries expressed some initial action points to initiate the collaboration and linkages between TPOs and NSBs, the related summary is reported in **Box 3** (page 60).

## 8.1 Policy framework

Specific practices in some countries may require an agreement to be entered into by the NSB and TPO, or that an MoU be signed between them, so that meaningful collaboration is formalised. The starting point could be an exploratory meeting between the managements of the two organizations, perhaps under the auspices of the relevant ministries to discuss the options outlined in this handbook, and highlight those for further consideration. In addition, if the business community is keen to promote TPO and NSB cooperation, then a senior businessperson might be invited to chair the meeting. Once an understanding has been reached regarding possible areas of cooperation, then it should be formalized in an agreement or MoU to serve as guidance for staff of the two organizations. Because standardization, conformity assessment and technical regulations are constantly changing, it would be appropriate to revisit the agreement at regular intervals. Such meetings could also provide an opportunity to review the achievements of the previous year, to determine what has been of greatest benefit to exporters.

Where the country has a national export strategy and a standardization or national quality policy, such an agreement could be included. Since trade policy is usually the responsibility of the ministry for trade and industry, it would be prudent to involve the senior policy-making ministers early in the process to coordinate the planned TPO and NSB strategies with overall trade policy. If not, the two organizations may find that they are operating in a policy vacuum with poor support from government agencies. Aligning government policies to reflect collaborative efforts will also help strengthen the initial impetus, and in gaining public funding.

### 8.2 Challenges related to possible collaboration

All TPOs and NSBs face funding, manpower and other constraints, as reviewed under the following headings.

contactsSend staff regulation sues and com Popoint nam provide the nMake data bases work• Post cross-ref • Use existing it • Use existing it • Use existing it • Consider usin contacts between the best drive • Use regionalTechnical regulation and market failures• Develop close the National V raise industry partners • Develop close	anization to review its activities resentatives to the other headquarter for short periods to familiarize with is- straints, and foster better cooperation among staff at lower levels ed individuals in each organization responsible for liaison with the other, and eccessary resources erencing links, with scope notes, on both websites nternational databases to extend own databases
work Use existing i Regional and social networking  Reach out to and other pu Consider usin contacts betw the best drive Use regional  Technical regulation and market failures Develop close the National raise industry partners Develop close the variangle	
social networking and other pul Consider usin contacts betw the best drive Use regional Technical regulation and market failures Develop close the National raise industry partners Develop close	
regulation and market failures • Develop close the National raise industry partners • Develop close	each client base through inputs to each organization's newsletters, periodicals olications g social networking sites such as LinkedIn and Facebook to strengthen the veen individuals in the two bodies, recognising that human contact may be r for collaboration networking to spread the influence of the NSB and the TPO
	r cooperation between the NSB and TPO, where the NSB, as the custodian of VTO Enquiry Points, can use the TPO's extensive contacts and address lists to awareness of technical regulations in target markets or with main trading cooperation between the TPO and the NSB, where the TPO as recipient of stem information in export markets regarding product or service quality prob- the NSB's know how to help provide solutions and help industry maintain its nce
Training, workshops, seminars and the like Provide awar 14001, and IS sultants and that could pre-	

### Figure 12: Making NSB and TPO cooperation work successfully

# 8.2.1 Funding of collaborative efforts

If the NSB and the TPO have agreed on collaborative efforts such as training, awareness campaigns and monitoring of international standards and technical regulations, who should pay for it? Should the organizations re-prioritise their spending or seek additional funding from the principal funding sources? These issues should be agreed at the outset to ensure that good intentions are not compromised by any misunderstandings over funding. This is even more important if the "good for country" activities of the two organizations are funded largely by the same ministry. In this case it might help to approach the ministry jointly. Any such funding request would be strengthened if the collaborative efforts reflect official government policies.

### 8.2.2 Priority areas

The TPO and NSB should focus their efforts where it will have the biggest impact on the value chain of exportable products and services, otherwise they may find that those efforts are spread too widely to be effective. For example, should the TPO promote existing products and services only, or should it also monitor technology and fashion trends in the target markets, feeding the information back to the industry and to the NSB for capacity building ? Both approaches are covered in the best-resourced TPOs, but how might this be most effectively achieved in others ? One way would be for the NSB and TPO to work together to develop a sub-sector value chain, and identify where their individual contributions and collaboration could enhance the export potential of the industry most.

### 8.2.3 Different ministries

The TPO and NSB are hosted by different ministries in some developing economies. This can make collaboration more difficult since every action must be approved by ministry officials, in other words, bureaucracy can get in the way of common sense. In this case it may be appropriate to develop an MoU to be agreed and signed by the senior official, e.g. the permanent secretary. This agreement would establish appropriate levels of collaboration on a day-to-day basis, and regulate funding. Similarly, ministries are sometimes split for political expediency and the NQI organizations are allocated to different parts of the split. In both cases the organizations should initiate the appropriate cooperation and communication channels, if necessary, through the relevant ministerial offices.

# 8.2.4 Different regulatory agencies

The fragmentation of the administration of technical regulations and SPS measures can be a major issue in developing and developed economies. Several ministries and agencies may be involved, e.g. health, labour, transport, housing, etc. Each will be responsible for regulations in its own area, although these can overlap (e.g. two authorities may be responsible for fax machines, one for electrical safety and the other for telecoms connectivity), but

## Box 2 – The strategic framework – bringing it all together

### Some facts

- Developing and least developed countries have limited resources to address all export quality requirements
- There is a distinct lack of communication and understanding between NSBs and TPOs
- TPOs maintain contacts with the business community and industry sectors
- NSBs have linkages with standards and quality institutions locally and abroad
- Trade negotiations increasingly make reference to standards and quality

### A strategic approach to maximise impact

- TPOs to identify exports that have the potential to become major export earners
- TPOs to develop specific trade policies for those exports
- NSBs to advise TPOs on export quality requirements
- NSBs to evaluate the available export quality support infrastructure
- Where the country lacks in capacity, TPOs and NSBs could make joint funding submissions to the government
- Where the country lacks in capacity, the NSB could also collaborate with its counterparts abroad
- NSBs to develop and publish national standards or adopt international standards for those export commodities
- With the publication of national standards, NSBs should liaise with research and development institutions involved with such exports
- NSBs to participate actively in the development of international export standards.

## Guiding principle

Focusing limited resources on projects that will give a bigger return is better than allocating those resources thinly across many areas.

Source : Presentation of Papua New Guinea at the consultation

the coordination between ministries and the NSB may be weak or nonexistent. This can make it difficult for the exporter to obtain the necessary information and conformity assessment certification. There are no easy solutions, although high quality national enquiry points, NSB and TPO information services can alleviate the situation.

## 8.2.5 Lack of infrastructure

TPOs and NSBs in many developing economies often do not have the necessary infrastructure and manpower capacity to support testing laboratories, auditing, national accreditation, metrology and calibration and meet the technical requirements of the more sophisticated markets. This is a serious obstacle to providing help to exporters since buying these services from abroad is an added expense that can render them less competitive. While donors are normally willing to support laboratory infrastructure development, these donor projects generally do not encompass buildings, environmental controls and running costs. These would be the responsibility of the institution or the government of the country receiving the aid.

Major problems can arise when the amount of business does not warrant the establishment of an NQI service. Between 200 to 250 laboratories and certification organizations are required to make an accreditation body self-sufficient, and then it can take up to seven years to obtain international recognition. Nevertheless, without proper accreditation, an NQI service would have difficulty gaining acceptance in foreign markets. Alternatively, accreditation services can be obtained from internationally recognized foreign accreditation bodies, although this is usually a more expensive option. In this case, the government may have to accept the foreign accreditation body as the *de jure* national accreditation body. The NSB can play a major role in facilitating such an agreement.

These are challenging issues because the investments required can significantly exceed the capacity of the NSB, TPO and government. However, cooperation between the NSB and the TPO can help build the necessary infrastructure for those products that would make a real difference to the export performance of the country, through a willing donor community.

# 8.2.6 Lack of downstream links

In some developing economies, the NSB and TPO may not have strong links to the industrial, manufacturing, and business association networks that could support them in their endeavours. Often this is because they tend to be governmental-style bureaucracies, and not yet familiar with adopting the "friend of industry" role. This can only be rectified by TPOs and NSBs themselves through intensive repositioning. Such a programme should start with a change in thinking, with the objective of becoming a service-orientated organization proactively serving its stakeholders, rather than a government office reacting to requests.

# Box 3 – Linking NSBs and TPOs – initial action points from participating countries

- The TPO representative should call a meeting with the TBT and SPS enquiry points to improve communication and share understanding of the quality and technical regulations and SPS measures, and consider potential responses
- Post links to the TPO and NSB on each website, and update existing search engines to include TPO/NSB links. These will be extended to all TSIs to make it easier for enterprises to find the support service they require
- Now that the national TPO and NSB have met during the consultations, they should meet again in their home country. As these organizations usually sit under the same ministry, it may not be necessary to develop a formal policy framework. In promoting collaboration, the intention is to work towards a national workshop attended by all exporters. ITC and ISO expertise will be sought to help move this process forward
- An *alumni* should be established between countries participating at the consultation to identify joint projects that could be implemented
- Following the formal report to the TPO and NSB CEOs regarding the consultation outcomes, a meeting is to be held with TPO and NSB colleagues to plan the way forward
- Partnerships between TPOs and NSBs have been strengthened during the consultation. The
  intention is for this to continue in the home country, including developing a plan for future
  collaboration to be communicated throughout the country
- The experiences of other participating countries will be shared back home. Existing portals
  will be upgraded to contain relevant information on quality. It was noted that challenges
  exist in strengthening TPO/NSB relationships due to different mandates and lead ministries
- Exporters will be provided with greater access to information held by the NSB, and to facilitate this, one officer from the TPO and NSB will be designated as direct liaison with the partner organization
- An MoU will be drawn up between the NSB and TPO to support mutual cooperation in providing assistance in the area of quality to SME clients
- Collaboration with business associations is planned to highlight the quality issues faced by their members.

Source : Presentation of participating countries at the consultation

## 9. Conclusion

Although international trade is increasing, there is a risk that the growing complexity of quality and regulatory requirements will become insurmountable obstacles to exporters from developing countries. This is especially so of the SME sector. Potential exporters therefore need considerable help with :

(i) Information about the regulatory and market requirements for their product or service

(ii) Services to determine compliance of the product or service with requirements

(iii) Support in redesigning the product or service until it does comply.

NSBs and TPOs have been established in most developing countries. They have specific mandates, even though they frequently fall under the ministry responsible for trade. The NSB is the custodian of national standards and the representative of the country in international and regional standards organizations. In most cases the NSB also provides conformity assessment services. The TPO, on the other hand, is the source of much needed market information and acts as a facilitator to support trade. In combination, these two organizations can provide the support that exporting SMEs require. Unfortunately, in most developing countries, cooperation between the NSB and the TPO is often weak or nonexistent. To achieve such cooperation requires:

(i) A better understanding at government policy level of the services on offer, reflected in policy documents (ii) A willingness to collaborate by NSB and TPO management

(iii) A willingness to connect information systems in a meaningful way

(iv) Agreement to provide training and consultancy in standards implementation.

The paths forward for such cooperative efforts, presented in this handbook, are based on discussions between NSB and TPO representatives from many countries who met at the joint ISO/ITC workshop in Kuala Lumpur. Different avenues of cooperation are outlined to reflect country and organizational differences. Nevertheless, it would be highly beneficial if NSB and TPO organizations in developing countries could cooperate more closely to serve their nations and SME sectors better.

Cooperation can lead to stronger and more comprehensive support systems for the export industry of a developing economy, enhanced competitiveness for its exporters, and, ultimately, to a better quality of life for all its peoples. Both ISO and ITC are willing to support such efforts, and would welcome information on success stories, to help refine the thinking and guidance given in publications and promotional activities.

## 10. References and definitions

### 10.1 References

- ISO/IEC Guide 2:2004, Standardization and related activities – General vocabulary, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- ISO 9001:2008, Quality management systems – Requirements, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- ISO 14001:2004, Environmental management systems – Requirements with guidance for use, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- ISO/IEC 17000:2004, Conformity assessment – Vocabulary and general principles, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- ISO/IEC 17020:1998, General criteria for the operation of various types of bodies performing inspection, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- ISO/IEC 17021:2006, Conformity assessment Requirements for bodies providing audit and certification of management systems, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- ISO/IEC 17025:2005, General requirements for the competence of testing and calibration laboratories, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- ISO 22000:2005, Food safety management systems – Requirements for any organization in the food chain, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva

- ISO/TS 16949:2009, Quality management systems – Particular requirements for the application of ISO 9001:2008 for automotive production and relevant service part organizations, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- SA 8000:2008, Social Accountability, Social Accountability International, New York

## 10.2 **Definitions**

Most of the following definitions have been obtained from ISO/IEC guides and standards, or from WTO agreements, as indicated in parenthesis. For some, two definitions are provided to indicate differences of interpretation that should be considered, depending on the context of the discussion.

#### Accreditation [ISO/IEC 17000]

Third-party attestation related to a conformity assessment body conveying formal demonstration of its competence to carry out specific conformity assessment tasks.

#### Conformity assessment [ISO/IEC 17000]

Demonstration that specified requirements relating to a product, process, system, person or body are fulfilled.

NOTE 1 – The subject field of conformity assessment includes activities such as testing, inspection and certification, as well as the accreditation of conformity assessment bodies. NOTE 2 – The expression "object of conformity assessment" or "object" is used to encompass any particular material, product, installation, process, system, person or body to which conformity assessment is applied. A service is covered by the definition of a product.

## **Conformity assessment** [WTO TBT Agreement]

Any procedure used, directly or indirectly, to determine that relevant requirements in technical regulations or standards are fulfilled.

#### Explanatory note:

Conformity assessment procedures include, *inter alia*, procedures for sampling, testing and inspection; evaluation, verification and assurance of conformity; registration, accreditation and approval, as well as their combinations.

#### Inspection [ISO/IEC 17000]

Examination of a product design, product, process or installation and determination of its conformity with specific requirements or, on the basis of professional judgement, with general requirements.

NOTE – Inspection of a process may include inspection of persons, facilities, technology and methodology.

**Metrology** [International Vocabulary of Metrology – Basic concepts and general terms and associated terms (VIM)]

The science of measurement and its application.

NOTE: Metrology includes all theoretical and practical aspects of measurement, whatever the uncertainty or the field of application.

# National Quality Infrastructure [Author's definition]

The National Quality Infrastructure (NQI) can be understood as the totality of the institutional framework (public or private) required to establish and implement standardization, metrology (scientific, industrial and legal), accreditation and conformity assessment services (inspection, testing, and product and system certification) necessary to provide acceptable evidence that products and services meet defined requirements, be they demanded by authorities (i.e. in technical regulation) or the market place (i.e. contractually or inferred).

Sanitary or phytosanitary measure [WTO SPS Agreement<sup>18)</sup>]

Any measure applied:

(a) To protect animal or plant life or health within the territory of the Member from risks arising from the entry, establishment or spread of pests, diseases, disease-carrying organisms or disease-causing organisms

(b) To protect human or animal life or health within the territory of the Member from risks arising from additives, contaminants, toxins or disease-causing organisms in foods, beverages or feedstuffs

(c) To protect human life or health within the territory of the Member from risks arising from diseases carried by animals, plants or products thereof, or from the entry, establishment or spread of pests

(d) To prevent or limit other damage within the territory of the Member from the entry, establishment or spread of pests.

<sup>18)</sup> www.wto.org/english/docs\_e/legal\_e/15-sps.pdf

Sanitary or phytosanitary measures include all relevant laws, decrees, regulations, requirements and procedures including, inter alia, end product criteria; processes and production methods; testing, inspection, certification and approval procedures; quarantine treatments including relevant requirements associated with the transport of animals or plants, or with the materials necessary for their survival during transport; provisions on relevant statistical methods, sampling procedures and methods of risk assessment; packaging and labelling requirements directly related to food safety.

#### Standard [ISO/IEC Guide 2]

Document, established by consensus and approved by a recognized body, that provides, for repeated and common use, rules, guidelines or characteristics for activities or their results, aimed at the achievement of an optimum degree of order in a given context.

NOTE – Standards should be based on the consolidated results of science, technology and experience, and aimed at the promotion of optimum community benefits.

#### Standard [WTO TBT Agreement<sup>19</sup>]

Document approved by a recognized body, that provides, for common and repeated use, rules, guidelines or characteristics for products or related processes and production methods, with which compliance is not mandatory. It may also include or deal exclusively with terminology, symbols, packaging, marking or labelling requirements as they apply to a product, process or production method.

#### Standardization [ISO/IEC Guide 2<sup>20)</sup>]

Activity of establishing, with regard to actual or potential problems, provisions for common and repeated use, aimed at the achievement of the optimum degree of order in a given context.

NOTE 1 – In particular, the activity consists of the processes of formulating, issuing and implementing standards.

NOTE 2 – Important benefits of standardization are improvement of the suitability of products, processes and services for their intended purposes, prevention of barriers to trade, and facilitation of technical cooperation.

Technical regulation [WTO TBT Agreement]

Document which lays down product characteristics or their related processes and production methods, including the applicable administrative provisions, with which compliance is mandatory. It may also include or deal exclusively with terminology, symbols, packaging, marking or labelling requirements as they apply to a product, process or production method.

#### Testing [ISO/IEC 17000]

Determination of one or more characteristics of an object of conformity assessment, according to a procedure.

NOTE – Testing typically applies to materials, products or processes.

<sup>19)</sup> www.wto.org/english/docs\_e/legal\_e/ursum\_e. htm#dAgreement

<sup>20)</sup> www.iso.org/directives

# Appendix I: Programme of the consultation workshop

#### **Tuesday 1 December 2009**

08:30 – 09:00 Registration

09:00-09:30

#### Welcome

Welcome address from hosts (MATRADE and DSM) and organizers (ISO and ITC).

Dato' Noharuddin Nordin, CEO, MATRADE

Mr. Beer Budoo, Director, Development and Training Services, ISO

**Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur**, Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, ITC

Mrs. Fadilah Baharin, Director General, Department of Standards Malaysia (DSM)

*09:30 – 10:00 Coffee Break* 

#### 10:00 - 10:30

#### Introductions

Each TPO and NSB participant to briefly introduce themselves.

#### 10:30 - 11:30

## Session 1 : Exporter Competitiveness and Quality

This session sets the scene. We explore the meaning of quality, investigate to what extent quality requirements are affecting exports, and what the implications are from the perspective of developing country exporters and support institutions.

Moderator : Mr. Rajinder Raj Sud, Consultant, ISO

Speaker : **Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur**, Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, ITC

#### 11:30 - 13:00

#### Session 2: Role of NSBs

Here we seek to gain a greater understanding of the role of NSBs. What are the mandates and challenges of NSBs? What are the constraints and opportunities they face? How can NSBs contribute to the work of TPOs, as far as quality issues are concerned, to foster export development and competitiveness?

Moderator : **Mr. Beer Budoo**, Director, Development and Training Services, ISO

Speaker : Mr. Riyaz Ahmed Memon, Director (WTO), Pakistan Standards and Quality Control Authority

13:00 – 14:00 Lunch Break

#### 14:00 - 15:30

#### Session 3: Role of TPOs

Here we seek to gain a greater understanding of the role of TPOs. What are the mandate and challenges of TPOs? What are the constraints and opportunities they face? How can TPOs contribute to the work of NSBs, as far as quality issues are concerned, to foster export development and competitiveness?

Moderator : **Mr. Bertrand Jocteur-Monrozier**, Senior Adviser, Trade Support Institution Strengthening, ITC Speaker : **Mr. Alan Reynolds**, International Consultant, ITC

15:30 – 16:00 Coffee Break

#### 16:00 – 17:30 Session 4 : Scope of Quality Requirements

Quality-related considerations exist at three levels: at supply-side, the business environment, and market-entry. How should these issues be addressed at each level by the policy makers, NSBs and TPOs, and by exporters? What are the linkages between the developmental impacts that may accrue from addressing these quality-related issues in the country?

Moderator : **Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur**, Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, ITC

Speakers:

Mr. Martin Kellermann, International Consultant, ITC Mr. Deo Muni Shakya, Deputy Director General, Nepal Bureau of Standards and Metrology

#### Wednesday 2 December 2009

#### 09:00 - 09:30

## **Session 5 :** Introduction to Mapping Quality-Sensitive Value Chains

Moderator : **Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur**, Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, ITC

#### 09:30 - 11:00

## **Breakout Series A :** Mapping Quality-Sensitive Value Chains

This session builds upon the "Scope of Quality" session. Participants will map quality considerations at each stage along the generic value chains and highlight implications for policy makers, NSBs and TPOs, and for exporters. What are the key considerations and possible responses for each of the key sectors? The mapping will be undertaken in parallel breakout sessions for three broad sectors:

#### Agriculture and Agro-processing :

Map all quality considerations along a generic agriculture and agro-processing value chain and investigate the possible responses.

Moderator : Mr. Rajinder Raj Sud, Consultant, ISO

#### Manufactured Goods:

Map all quality considerations along a generic manufactured goods value chain and investigate the possible responses.

Moderator : **Mr. Martin Kellermann**, International Consultant, ITC

#### Services :

Map all quality considerations along a generic services value chain and investigate the possible responses.

Moderator : **Mr. Alan Reynolds**, International Consultant, ITC

11:00 – 11:30 Coffee Break

#### 11:30 - 12:00

## **Reporting and Conclusions :** Breakout Series A

Moderators of each breakout session will report on the conclusions and outcomes.

Moderator : **Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur**, Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, ITC

#### 12:00 - 13:00

#### Session 6: Bridging the Gaps

We look at what the NSBs and TPOs currently do and the issues that have come out of the previous sessions in order to perform a preliminary gap analysis in capacities, competencies, and support services.

Moderator : **Mr. Alan Reynolds**, International Consultant, ITC

Speakers:

Mr. Didit Yuan Permamadi, Centre of International Cooperation on Standardization, National Standardization Agency of Indonesia

**Ms. Tupou Raturaga**, General Manager, Fiji Islands Trade and Investment Bureau

13:00 – 14:00 Lunch Break

#### 14:00 - 14:30

## **Session 7 :** Introduction to Enabling Exporters to Meet and Exceed Quality Requirements

Moderator : **Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur**, Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, ITC

#### 14:30 - 16:00

#### Breakout Series B: Enabling Exporters to Meet and Exceed Quality Requirements

Three parallel breakout sessions will take place to review :

#### Information :

What are the roles of TPOs and NSBs in providing information on quality requirements to exporting enterprises? What kind of information should they provide?

Moderator: Mr. Alan Reynolds, International Consultant, ITC

#### Capacity-building and Advisory Services :

What capacity-building and advisory services should TPOs and NSBs provide to export-oriented enterprises? How should such services be delivered?

Moderator : Mr. Rajinder Raj Sud, Consultant, ISO

#### **Obtaining and Demonstrating Compliance :**

What are the respective roles of TPOs and NSBs in enabling exporters to obtain and demonstrate compliance?

Moderator : **Mr. Martin Kellermann**, International Consultant, ITC

16:00 – 16:30 Coffee Break

#### 16:30 - 17:00

#### **Reporting and Conclusions :** Breakout Series B

Moderators of each breakout session will report on the conclusions and outcomes.

Moderator : **Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur**, Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, ITC

#### 17:00 - 18:00

# **Session 8 :** Elements of the Partnerships – Key Considerations

What linkages currently exist between TPOs and NSBs? What are the key challenges faced by TPOs and NSBs to optimise impact resulting from such linkages? What are the key ingredients that should be taken into account to ensure a productive and mutually beneficial partnership between these institutions?

Moderator : **Ms. Ludovica Ghizzoni**, Adviser on Export Quality Management, ITC

Speakers:

Mrs. Dayani Dahanayake Yapa, Assistant Director (Marketing and Promotions), Sri Lanka Standards Institution

Mr. Senen Perlada, Director, Bureau of Export Trade Promotion, Philippines

#### Thursday 3 December 2009

#### 09:00 - 09:30

## Session 9 : Introduction to Making the Partnership Work

Moderator : **Mr. Beer Budoo**, Director, Development and Training Services, ISO

#### 09:30 - 11:00

#### Breakout Series C : Making the Partnership Work

Three parallel breakout sessions will take place to review:

#### Capacities and Competencies :

What capacities and competencies at the operational level are needed to make the partnership between TPOs and NSBs work?

Moderator : Ms. Roswitha Franz, Project Manager, Development and Training Services, ISO

#### **Resources and Networks:**

What resources and networks are needed for an effective partnership between TPOs and NSBs?

Moderator : Mr. Bertrand Jocteur-Monrozier, Senior Adviser, Trade Support Institution Strengthening, ITC

## Formal versus informal partnership arrangements/governance mechanism :

Do formal or informal partnership arrangements/ governance mechanisms make the partnership between TPOs and NSBs work? What kind of arrangements and mechanisms should be taken into account to ensure the partnership between these institutions works?

Moderator : **Mr. Alan Reynolds**, International Consultant, ITC

11:00 – 11:30 Coffee Break
#### 11:30 - 12:00

#### **Reporting and Conclusions :** Breakout Series C

Moderators of each breakout session will report on the conclusions and outcomes.

Moderator : **Mr. Beer Budoo**, Director, Development and Training Services, ISO

#### 12:00 - 13:00

#### Session 10 : The Strategic Framework – Bringing it all Together

Here we bring together all of the considerations in a strategic approach to quality management that links TPOs and NSBs for maximum impact.

Moderator : **Ms. Sophie Krantz**, Adviser, Export Strategy and Competitiveness, ITC

Speakers:

**Mr. Dan Yansom**, Assistant Director, Technical Standards Division, National Institute of Standards and Industrial Technology, Papua New Guinea

**Mr. Pema Khandu**, Foreign Trade Officer, Department of Trade, Ministry of Economic Affairs, Bhutan

13:00 – 14:00 Lunch Break

#### 14:00 - 15:00

#### Session 11: Operationalizing the Partnership

What are the practical implications to formalise the partnership between NSBs and TPOs?

Moderator : **Mr. Martin Kellermann**, International Consultant, ITC

Speakers:

Mr. Chandranath Som, Director, Federation of Indian Export Organizations, Ministry of Commerce, India

Mr. Ridzwan Kasim, Director of Standards, Standards Malaysia

15:00 – 15:45 Working Coffee Break

#### 15:45 – 17:00 **Session 12 :** Country Responses – the Next Steps

Country participants will be asked to jointly describe what follow-up activity they propose to undertake, once back in their country, to initiate TPO and NSB collaboration and to specify their likely technical assistance needs to implement such activity.

Moderator : **Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur**, Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, ITC

Speaker : **Mr. Beer Budoo**, Director, Development and Training Services, ISO

# Appendix II : List of participants of the consultation workshop

#### **NSB and TPO participants**

#### Bangladesh

Mr. M. Abdur Rahman Director (Policy) Export Promotion Bureau TCB Bhaban (4th Floor) 1, Kawran Bazar, Dhaka Tel. : +88 02 815 1501 Fax : +88 02 911 9531 E-mail : dir-policy@epb.gov.bd

Dr. Syed Humayun Kabir Director, Standards Bangladesh Standards and Testing Institution (BSTI) Dhaka Tel. : +88 02 88 21 462, 989 8115 Fax : +88 02 913 1581 E-mail : bstistd@bangla.net drhkabir\_bsti@yahoo.com

#### Bhutan

Mr. Pema Khandu Trade Officer Department of Trade, Ministry of Economic Affairs Dhoebum Lam, Thimphu Tel. : +975 232 2407 Fax : +975 232 1338 E-mail : pemakhandu@yahoo.com

#### China Macau SAR

Mr. Vincent U Manager of Research and Information Division Macao Trade and Investment Promotion Institute 918, Av Amizade, World Trade Centre Building, 3rd Floor Tel. : +853 8798 9235 Fax : +853 2872 8208 E-mail : vincertu@ipim.gov.mo

#### Fiji

Ms. Tupou Raturaga General Manager Fiji Islands Trade and Investment Bureau 6th Floor Civic Towers, Victoria Parade, Suva, Fiji Islands Tel. : +679 331 5988 Fax : +679 330 1783 E-mail : tupour@hotmail.com

Mr. Samuela Baleinamuka Moce Senior Economic Planning Officer Ministry of Industry, Tourism, Trade & Communications Suva, Fiji Islands Tel. : +679 330 5411 Fax : +679 330 2617 E-mail : samuela.moce@govnet.gov.fj; samumoce@yahoo.com

#### India

Mr. Chandranath Som Director Federation of Indian Export Organisations Niryat Bhawan, Rao Tula Ram Marg, New Delhi Tel. : +91 11 46042121 Fax : +91 11 26150066 E-mail : csom@fieo.org, chandranathsom@gmail.com

#### Indonesia

Mr. Didit Yuan Permadi Staff of Centre for International Cooperation on Standardization National Standardization Agency of Indonesia (BSN) Tel. : +62 21 574 7043 Fax : +62 21 574 7045 E-mail : didit@bsn.qo.id

#### Iran

Mr. Mohammad Haddadi Director General of Foreign Trade Information Trade Promotion Organisation of Iran Chamran Expressway, Tehran International Fair Ground, P.O.BOX 1148, POSTCODE 1999613954 Tehran Tel. : +98 21 2266 4062 Fax : +98 21 2266 3889 E-mail : haddadi@wtpo.net Ms. Nezhat Montazeri Senior Expert in Inspection of Goods Institute of Standards and Industrial Research of Iran (ISIRI) Tel. : +98 21 8888 6663 Fax : +98 21 8865 4039 E-mail : haiqtc@gmail.com

#### Malaysia

Mr. Zakaria Kamarudin Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation (MATRADE) Senior Director, Exporters Development Division Menara matrade, jalan hidmat usaha, off jalan duta Kuala Lumpur Tel. : +603 6207 7077 (ext. 7500) Fax : +603 6203 7250 E-mail : zak@matrade.gov.my

Mr. Azman Md Yusof Senior Manager, SME Development & Exporters Training Unit Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation (MATRADE) Menara matrade, jalan khidmat usaha, off jalan duta Kuala Lumpur Tel. : +603 6207 7077 (ext. 7502 Fax : +603 6203 7250 E-mail : azman@matrade.gov.my Mr. Che Wan Darul Redzwan Che Wan Deraman Assistant Manager, Trade Advisory Services Unit Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation (MATRADE) Menara matrade, jalan khidmat usaha, off jalan duta Kuala Lumpur Tel. : +603 6207 7077 (ext. 7635) Fax : +603 6203 7250 E-mail : redzwan@matrade.gov.my

Ms. Sarah Johana Yusof Manager Asean & Australasia Unit Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation (MATRADE) Menara matrade, jalan khidmat usaha, off jalan duta Kuala Lumpur Tel. : +603 6207 7077 (ext. 7112) Fax : +603 6203 7250 E-mail : sarah@matrade.gov.my

Mr. Syed Mohd Muhsin Sy Mohamad Assistant Manager, Food & Beverage, Agriculture, Halal, Biotech, Chemical and Pharmaceutical Section Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation (MATRADE) Menara matrade, jalan khidmat usaha, off jalan duta Kuala Lumpur Tel. : +603 6207 7077 (ext. 7672) Fax : +603 6203 7250 E-mail : muhsin@matrade.gov.my Ms. Liew Sook Fern Assistant Manager, E&E and ICT Section Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation (MATRADE) Menara matrade, jalan khidmat usaha, off jalan duta Kuala Lumpur Tel. : +603 6207 7077 (ext. 76687) Fax : +603 6203 7250 E-mail : liew@matrade.gov.my

Mr. Ridzwan Kasim Director of Standards Department of Standards Malaysia Tel. : +603 8318 2225 Fax : +603 8319 1511 E-mail : ridzwan@standardsmalaysia.gov.my

Ms. Noraiza Abdullah Assistant Director Department of Standards Malaysia Tel. : +603 8319 146 Fax : +603 8319 1511 E-mail : aiza@standardsmalaysia.gov.my

Mr. Hussalmizzar Hussain Principal Assistant Director Department of Standards Malaysia Tel. : +603 8319 1445 Fax : +603 8319 1511 E-mail : mizzar@standardsmalaysia.gov.my

Ms. Nor Latifah Hussin Principal Assistant Director Department of Standards Malaysia Tel. : +603 8319 1443 Fax : +603 8319 1511 E-mail : norlatifah@standardsmalaysia.gov.my

#### Myanmar

Mr. U Zaw Win Assistant Researcher/Engineer Post Harvest Technology Application Centre (PTAC) Myanma Agriculture Produce Trading Ministry of Commerce PTAC Staff Avenue, Kyun Galay village, Hlegu Yangon Tel. : +95 01 629 043, +95 01 629 044, +95 01 629 655 E-mail : uzawwin57@gmail.com Ms. Thida Win

Vice Principal Loikaw Technological University Myanmar Tel. : +95 9 201 5702 Fax : +95 83 21 578 E-mail : malthida@gmail.com

#### Nepal

Mr. Ramesh Kumar Shrestha Executive Director Trade and Export Promotion Centre Na tole, Pulchowk, Lalitpur Kathmandu Tel. : +977 1 552 5898, +985 102 4975 E-mail : info@tepc.gov.np rameshkumarshrestha@hotmail.com Mr. Deo Muni Shakya Deputy Director General Nepal Bureau of Standards and Metrology Tel. : +977 1 43 50 818 Fax : +977 1 43 50 689 E-mail : devmuni@hotmail.com mail@mbsm.gov.mp mbsm@gov.mp

#### Pakistan

Mr. Shuhab Uddin Memon Director Facilitation Trade Development Authority of Pakistan Gulshan Iqbal, Block 6, Karachi Tel. : +92 21 3498 1485 Fax : +92 21 9920 1505 E-mail : shuhabmemon@hotmail.com

Mr. Riyaz Ahmed Memon Director (WTO) Pakistan Standards and Quality Control Authority (PSQCA) Tel. : +92 21 9920 6544 Fax : +92 21 9920 6263, 9920 5385 E-mail : engrriyaz@hotmail.com

#### Papua New Guinea

Mr. Dan Yansom Assistant Director, Technical Standards Division National Institute of Standards & Industrial Technology (NISIT) Tel. : +675 323 1852 Fax : +675 325 8793 E-mail : dan.yansom@nisit.gov.pg

#### **Philippines**

Mr. Senen Perlada Director, Bureau of Export Trade Promotion Executive Director Export Development Council 2nd floor, DTI International Building 375 Sen. Gil Puyat Ave. Makati City, Philippines 1200 E-mail : smperlada@dti.gov.ph

Ms. Anne Daisy T. Omila Senior Trade and Industry Development Specialist Bureau of Product Standards (BPS) Philippines Tel. : +632 751 4749 Fax : +632 751 4706 E-mail : anneomila@dti.gov.ph

#### Sri Lanka

Mr. Madduma Kaluge Udayapala Director Services Divison The Sri Lanka Export Development Board E-mail : udaya@edb.tradenetsl.lk

Ms. Dayani Dahanayake Yapa Assistant Director Sri Lanka Standards Institution (SLSI) Sri Lanka Tel. : +94 11 26 71 567 – 72 Fax : +94 11 26 71 579 E-mail : dayani@slsi.slt.lk

#### Thailand

Ms. Malee Choklumlerd Deputy Director General, Department of Export Promotion, Ministry of Commerce, Royal Thai Government Tel.: +662 507 8083 Fax: +662 547 5748 E-mail: malee@depthai.go.th

Ms. Nittayanee Khawtepawan Senior Policy and Plan Analyst Department of Export Promotion Royal Thai Government Thailand Tel. : +662 507 7785 Fax : +662 547 5667 E-mail : nittayaneek@depthai.go.th

Ms. Chaowalee Ratanamungmeka Director Standardization Promotion and Development Bureau Thai Industrial Standards Institute (TISI) Thailand Tel. : +662 202 3427 Fax : +662 354 3315 E-mail : chaowlee@tisi.go.th

#### Vietnam

Ms. Ngoc Diep Tran Deputy Director of Export Development Vietnam Trade Promotion Agency 20 Ly Thuong Kiet, Hanoi, Vietnam Tel. : +844 3934 7628, +844 3934 7654 Fax : +844 3934 4260, +3934 8142 E-mail : dieptn@vietrade.gov.vn

Mr. Minh Hai Phan Director Small and Medium Enterprise Development Support Centre 1 (SMEDEC1) Vietnam Tel. : +844 375 64 245 Fax : +844 375 64 244 E-mail : haiqtc@gmail.com

#### CONSULTANTS

Mr. Martin Gerhard Kellermann Independent Consultant on Standards, Technical Regulations and Conformity Assessment 233 Oom Jochems Place Erasmusrand, 0181 Pretoria, South Africa Tel. : +27 12 347 6961 Fax : +27 12 347 6961 E-mail : kellermg@mweb.co.za

Mr. Alan Reynolds Independent Consultant on Foreign Trade Promotion 38 40 Leyburn Gardens, Croydon, United Kingdom Tel. : +44 20 86 86 20 10 E-mail : alan@alanreynolds.com

Mr. Rajinder Raj Sud Consultant 6, Jalan SS14/7E Subang Jaya, Malaysia Tel. : +603 5633 6102 E-mail : rajinder.raj.s@gmail.com

#### **ITC PARTICIPANTS**

Mr. Shyam K. Gujadhur Senior Adviser on Standards and Quality Management, Enterprise Competitiveness Section E-mail : gujadhur@intracen.org Tel. : +41 22 730 03 96

Mr. Bertrand Jocteur-Monrozier Senior Adviser, Trade Support Institution Strengthening Section E-mail : monrozier@intracen.org Tel. : +41 22 730 01 93

Ms. Ludovica Ghizzoni Adviser on Export Quality Management, Enterprise Competitiveness Section E-mail : ghizzoni@intracen.org Tel. : +41 22 730 06 38

Ms. Sophie Krantz Adviser, Export Strategy and Competitiveness, Export Strategy Section E-mail : krantz@intracen.org Tel. : +41 22 730 02 83

#### **ISO PARTICIPANTS**

Mr. Beer Budoo Director Development and Training Services E-mail : budoo@iso.org Tel. : +41 22 749 01 11 (Reception) Tel. : +41 22 749 05 15 (Direct)

Ms. Roswitha Franz Project Manager Development and Training Services E-mail : franz@iso.org Tel. : +41 22 749 01 11 (Reception) Tel. : +41 22 749 02 00 (Direct)

## Appendix III: ITC's capacity building modules to strengthen TSIs



### Appendix IV: Selected bibliography

#### Standards bodies, standards and conformity assessment

Fast forward – National Standards Bodies in Developing Countries, joint ISO/ UNIDO publication, Geneva 2008, ISBN 978-92-67-10477-5. www.iso.org/iso/fast\_forward.pdf

Building trust – The Conformity Assessment Toolbox, joint ISO/UNIDO publication, Geneva 2009, ISBN 978-92-67-10511-6. www.iso.org/iso/casco\_building-trust.pdf

International standards and "private standards", ISO (International Organization for Standardization), Geneva 2010, ISBN 978-92-67-10518-5. www.iso.org/iso/private\_standards.pdf

*Financing* NSBs – *Financial Sustainability for National Standards Bodies*, ISO (International Organization for Standardization), Geneva, 2010, ISBN 978-92-67-10534-5. http://www.iso.org/iso/financing\_nsbs.pdf Innovations in Export Strategy: a strategic approach to the quality assurance challenge, International Trade Centre (ITC), Geneva 2005, ISBN 92-9137-309-5. www.intracen.org/wedf/ef2005/montreux/ InnovationsQualityAssuranceWeb.pdf

Export Quality Management – An Answer Book for Small and Medium-Sized Exporters, International Trade Centre (ITC), Geneva 2001, ISBN 92-9137-214-5. www.intracen.org/eshop/f\_e\_IP\_Title. Asp?ID=25551&LN=EN (Also available in adapted national editions)

Food safety and agricultural health standards – Challenges and opportunities for developing country exports, World Bank, Report No 31207. www.siteresources.worldbank.org/ INTRANETTRADE/Resources/Topics/ Standards/standards\_challenges\_ synthesisreport.pdf

#### Trade promotion organizations and services

Redefining Trade Promotion: The Need for a Strategic Response, International Trade Centre (ITC), Geneva 2002, ISBN 92-9137-132-7. www.intracen.org/eshop/f\_e\_IP\_Title. Asp?ID=21553&LN=EN

TPO Best Practices: Strengthening the Delivery of Trade Support Services, International Trade Centre (ITC), Geneva 2004, ISBN 92-9137-276-5. www.intracen.org/eshop/f\_e\_IP\_Title. Asp?ID=30166&LN=EN

Selling Business Information and Related Services: Case Studies and Guidelines for Trade Support Institutions, ITC Technical Paper, Geneva 2003, ITC/PMD/03/359. http://www.intracen.org/tis/pub/charg/ Selling-MAIN-REPORT-FINAL-030926. pdf

http://www.intracen.org/eshop/f\_e\_IP\_ Title.Asp?ID=28620&LN=EN

World Directory of Trade Promotion Organizations and other Trade Support Institutions = Répertoire mondial d'organisations de promotion du commerce et autres institutions d'appui au commerce = Repertorio Mundial de Organizaciones de Promoción del Comercio y Otros Instituciones de Apoyo al Comercio, International Trade Centre (ITC), Geneva 2009, TIS-09-171.E http://www.intracen.org/eshop/f\_e\_IP\_ Title.Asp?ID=25510&LN=EN Performance Measurement for Trade Information Services, Geneva 2002, ITC/ STPE/02/02 http://www.intracen.org/eshop/f\_e\_IP\_ Title.Asp?ID=27426&LN=EN

Export Promotion and the WTO: A Brief Guide, Geneva 2009, ISBN 978-92-9137-372-7 http://www.intracen.org/eshop/f\_e\_IP\_ Title.Asp?ID=41054&LN=EN

All about Promoting Trade in Services : A Complete Handbook, Geneva 2007, ISBN 92-9137-353-2 http://www.intracen.org/eshop/f\_e\_IP\_ Title.Asp?ID=38972&LN=EN

Export promotion agencies: Do they work? – Policy Research Working Paper, WPS5125, World Bank, 2009 http://go.worldbank.org/Q6PGNQK3H0 http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/ default/WDSContentServer/IW3P/IB/2 009/11/11/000158349\_20091111131649/ Rendered/PDF/WPS5125.pdf

### Links between trade, standards, technical regulations and SPS measures

World Trade Report 2005: Exploring the links between trade, standards and the WTO, World Trade Organization, Geneva 2005.

www.wto.org/english/res\_e/booksp\_e/ anrep\_e/world\_trade\_report05\_e.pdf

Quality Systems and Standards for a Competitive Edge, J.Louis Guasch, Jean-Luis Racine, Isabel Sanchez and Makhtar Diop, World Bank, Washington, 2007, ISBN-13: 978-0-8213-6896-7. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/ EXTEXPCOMNET/Resources/2463593-1213887855468/69\_LAC\_Quality\_and\_ Standards\_Pub\_Nov\_2007.pdf Multiple authors, Overcoming Trade Barriers from Standards and Technical Regulations – Policy research report (42720). World Bank, 2008. http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/ default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2 008/02/28/000333037\_20080228050849/ Rendered/INDEX/427200WP0P10991por t0ASEAN0Standards.txt



International Organization for Standardization

© ISO/ITC, 2010 All rights reserved ISBN 978-92-67-10536-9



International Trade Centre (ITC)